
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2005‑0520
	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	1
May 23, 2006

Pamela Nowina

Paul Sommerville

Ken Quesnelle
	Presiding Member & Vice Chair
Member

Member




EB-2005-0520
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union Gas Limited for an Order or Orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas commencing January 1, 2007.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street, 5th Floor, 

Toronto, Ontario, on Tuesday,

May 23, 2006, commencing at 9:00 a.m.

                          ---------  
Volume 1 

---------
B E F O R E:
PAMELA NOWINA


PRESIDING MEMBER & VICE CHAIR
PAUL SOMMERVILLE

MEMBER

KEN QUESNELLE


MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

MICHAEL MILLAR


Board Counsel

COLIN SCHUCH



Board Staff

RUDRA MUKHERJI


Board Staff



MICHAEL PENNY
Union Gas

CRAWFORD SMITH

TOM ADAMS
Energy Probe

MURRAY ROSS
TransCanada PipeLines

JULI ABOUCHAR
Willms & Shier 

PAUL MANNING
Environmental Lawyers

VINCE DE ROSE
IGUA

PETER THOMPSON

ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada

RANDY AIKEN
London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group

ALEC RYDER
City of Kitchener

ELISABETH DeMARCO
Superior Energy Management, TransAlta Cogeneration LP, and Coral Trading Ltd.

NOLA RUZYCKI
Ontario Energy Savings LP

BRIAN DINGWALL
Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters

FRED CASS
Enbridge Gas Distribution

JOHN DeVELLIS
Schools Energy Coalition

VALERIE YOUNG
Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators
BILL KILLEEN
ECNG

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition

PETER SCULLY
Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the Cities of Timmins and Greater Sudbury

MR.CROCKFORD
Interested party

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

--- Upon commencing at 9:20 a.m.




1

Appearances








2

Presentation of Settlement Proposal by Mr. Penny

4

Submissions by Mr. Adams





21

Submissions by Mr. Crockford




22

Submissions by Mr. Millar




24

Procedural Matters






25

Submissions by Mr. Smith





25

Submissions by Mr. Warren




43

Submissions by Mr. Cass





47

Submissions by Mr. DeRose




54

Submissions by Mr. Dingwall




58

Submissions by Mr. Adams





60

Submissions by Ms. DeMarco




60
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m. 




62
--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.





62

Submissions by Mr. Manning




62

Questions from the Board





81

Reply Submissions by Mr. Smith



82
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.



86
--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.





86
DECISION









86
Union Gas – Panel 1:  





`
89
D. Simpson, P. Piette; Sworn.


Examination by Mr. Smith





92

Cross-examination by Mr. Warren



98

Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro



103

Cross-examination by Mr. Adams



108
--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m.  




134
--- On resuming at 3:21 p.m.





134
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:45 p.m.

148
E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT NO. M1.1:  CASE ENTITLED SPARLING AND 

26
SOUTHAM INC.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.2:  UNION CASE RP-2003-0063


27
EXHIBIT NO. M1.3:  MR. SMITH’S MOTION RECORD


27
EXHIBIT NO. M1.4:  LIEN'S response to motion and 

55
NOTICE of cross motion
EXHIBIT NO. M1.5:  Book of authorities of LIEN

72
EXHIBIT NO. M1.6:  SCHEDULES AT EXHIBIT H3, TAB 1.
88
EXHIBIT NO. M1.7:  BOOK OF DOCUMENTS OF SUPERIOR

90 


ENERGY MANAGEMENT.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.8:  BOOK OF DOCUMENTS FROM ENERGY

91
PROBLE.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.9:  RISK MANAGEMENT IMPACT ON 

114
WACOG AND
PGVA.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.10:  DOCUMENT TITLED RISK MANAGEMENT
114 

PROGRAM IMPACT 1998 TO 2005.
U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.

UNDERTAKING NO. U1.1:  FIGURES FOR 1999 AND 2002

105 

FOR UNION'S GAS SUPPLY CHARGE FOR A TYPICAL

RESIDENCE
CUSTOMER.
Tuesday, May 23, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:20 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, everyone, please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in the matter of application RP-2005‑0520 submitted by Union Gas Limited, for an order or orders approving or fixing rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in their fiscal year 2007.


The applicant filed an agreement settling most of the issues on Tuesday May 16th, 2006.  The applicant and all intervenors, except Mr. Crockford, are parties to the agreement.


The Board sits today to hear submissions on the settlement agreement.  We will also hear submissions on the applicant's motion to remove evidence of the Low‑Income Energy Network, and, if luck is with us, we may also be able to begin examination of the panel on risk management today.  


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I am the presiding member in this hearing, and joining me on the Panel are Board members Mr. Paul Sommerville and Mr. Ken Quesnelle.


As you know, we have Mr. Crockford, an intervenor representing himself, on the telephone.  Mr. Crockford, can you hear me?


MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes, I can.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crockford.  I will let you know, Mr. Crockford, when you may make your submissions.


For those in the room, maybe I can get appearances now, please.  For the applicant?


APPEARANCES:

MR. PENNY:  My name is Michael Penny.  With me is Crawford Smith from the Tory law firm.  We represent the applicant, Union Gas.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  Other parties?


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Mr. Colin Schuch and Rudra Mukherji, also Board Staff.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams on behalf of Energy Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.


MR. ROSS:  Murray Ross on behalf of TransCanada Pipelines.


MS. ABOUCHAR:  Juli Abouchar with Willms & Shier Environmental Lawyers for LIEN, and with me --


MR. MANNING:  Paul Manning, also Willms & Shier Environmental Lawyers for LIEN.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.


MR. DeROSE:  Vince De Rose, IGUA.  I expect, as this hearing progresses, you will also see Mr. Peter Thompson on behalf of IGUA.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for the London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


MR. RYDER:  Alec Ryder for the City of Kitchener.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.


MS. DeMARCO:  Elisabeth DeMarco for Superior Energy Management, TransAlta Cogeneration LP, and Coral Trading Limited. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.


MS. RUZYCKI:  Nola Ruzycki for Ontario Energy Savings LP.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Ruzycki.


MR. DINGWALL:  Brian Dingwall for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. DeVELLIS:  John DeVellis for Schools Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MS. YOUNG:  Valerie Young, for the Ontario association of Physical Plant Administrators.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.


MR. KILLEEN:  Bill Killeen with ECNG.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, I didn't catch that.


MR. KILLEEN:  Bill Killeen.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Killeen.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. SCULLY:  Peter Scully for Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the Cities of Timmins and Greater Sudbury.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.  That's everyone.  Thank you very much.


Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters for the Panel's consideration?


All right.  We will begin with submissions on the settlement proposal.  The way we will do that, I assume the applicant will present the settlement agreement.  We will follow with submissions by other parties supporting the agreement, if they wish to make submissions, followed by Mr. Crockford, and then Board Staff.


Through all of this proceeding, Board Staff will go last.  I told you differently during the issues conference, but given the settlement agreement and where we now stand, that seems to be the appropriate way to handle the proceeding.


Are there any questions about that approach?  Following the discussion of the settlement agreement, we will hear submissions on the motion by the applicant, and then hopefully we will be able to render decisions on both of those issues today.


So, Mr. Penny.


PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL BY MR. PENNY:

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Well, you will have received the ‑‑ a copy of the settlement agreement dated May 15, 2006.  It was the subject of your Procedural Order No. 5, which was issued on the following day, May 16th, 2006.


The settlement conference in this matter took place over a two-week period from May 1 to May 12.  As the Board knows, other than two gas supply issues, all phase 1 issues were settled and most phase 3 issues were also settled.  There are three remaining -- phase 2, excuse me, phase 2 issues, most of them were also settled.  There are three remaining contested phase 2 issues.


At some point in my submissions, Madam Chair, I will go through the list of specific approvals requested that we filed as part of our filing just to, in fact, update those to align with the settlement and identify the changes in the list of specific approvals requested and those matters which have either been punted to other proceedings or were settled in this case.


Settlements that are virtually comprehensive, such as this one, are rare, but not unprecedented.  In EBR-0499, which dealt with Union's rates commencing January 1, 1999, the Board accepted a settlement which, like this one, was virtually comprehensive, and that settlement, subject to certain adjustments in 2000, then formed the basis for Union's trial three-year PBR plan.


As a result, that settlement formed the basis of rates for a considerable period of time.


The Board's settlement guidelines indicate that the Board is committed to the settlement conference process as part of its objective of achieving greater regulatory efficiency and effectiveness.  And the guidelines go on to say that the purpose, the purpose, of the settlement conference is to settle all the issues referred to the settlement conference in the proceeding, or at least to settle as many issues as possible.


In this case, all issues in this proceeding were referred to the settlement conference.  There were no issues that were withheld from the settlement conference.  And with the exception of the five issues that I alluded to, none of which have any material impact on the revenue requirement, the parties have achieved a comprehensive settlement.


Now, the public interest benefits of settlement, Madam Chair, are well known and obviously they underpin the Board's endorsement of the settlement process in the Board's guidelines on settlement.  But at the risk of stating the obvious, I want to refer to one decision of the Superior Court of Ontario that makes this point in a particularly helpful and insightful way.  


There is a decision of Chief Justice Callaghan of the High Court of Justice, as it then was, called Sparling and Southam.  This is a case involved ‑‑ which I passed out and the Board members should have and parties in the room should have.


This is a case -- it's not an energy case.  It is a case involving proceedings under the Canada Business Corporations Act, but like the situation we're faced with here, it was a statutory process which could not be settled without the approval of the court.  There is a specific provision in the CBCA that said that if you institute an oppression case, that you can't settle it without the approval of the Court.


The reason for that is similar to the reason we're sitting here today, and that is that when you are dealing with a public company, there are shareholders at large who may not be, themselves, directly involved in the legal proceedings that are before the court and the settlement could affect -- nevertheless, when those proceedings are settled, it could affect shareholders who aren't ‑‑ aren't actually parties to the proceeding.  


So the purpose of having court approval of these types of settlements is to make sure that the public interest is protected, i.e., the body of shareholders at large who are not specifically involved in the proceeding that has been instituted.     

So what happened in this case was that there was a legal proceeding instituted.  The parties to the proceeding, after full discovery, decided that it was in their collective interest to settle the matter.  They did so.  There were some objectors, however.  There was a small group of minority shareholders who opposed the settlement.  Basically their position was that the case, on the merits, was a good case and they ought to have gone to trial and maybe they would have won, and therefore that was the better way to go.  

The parties who settled the case and the director of companies under the CBACA endorsed the settlement and came before the Court for the approval of that settlement, notwithstanding the objections of a minority of

shareholders.

     So in that sense, I guess we have yet to hear from Mr.

Smith but I would say in that sense it is perhaps different even from this case because here I'm not sure we have objectors, but I guess we will find out.

     At page 230 of that decision, Madam Chair, there is a

passage starting just after the quote of section 235(2) of the CBACA, this is in the decision of the associate Chief Justice Callaghan.  He says:   

“In approaching this matter,” that is whether the court should endorse the settlement, he says:   

“… I believe it should be observed at the outset that the courts consistently favour the settlement of lawsuits in general.  To

put it another way, there is an overriding public interest in favour of settlement.  This policy promotes the interests of litigants generally by saving them the expense of trial of disputed issues, and it reduces the strain upon an already

overburdened provincial court system.

In deciding whether or not to approve a proposed settlement under section 235(2) the Court must be satisfied that the proposal is fair and reasonable to all shareholders.  In considering these matters, the Court must recognize are, by their very nature comprises, which need not and usually do not satisfy every single concern of all parties affected.

Acceptable settlements may fall within a broad range of upper and lower limits.

In cases such as this, it is not the court's function to substitute its judgment for that of the parties who negotiate the settlement.  Nor is it the court's function to litigate the merits of the action.  I would also state that it is it not the function of the court to simply rubber stamp the proposal      

The court must consider the nature of the

claims that were advanced in the action, the nature of the defences to those claims that were advanced in the pleadings and the benefits

accruing and lost to the parties as a result of 

the settlement.

When the director under the act proposes

a settlement for approval, he is acting as a public officer authorized as parens patria under the act not only to institute actions but also to compromise them.  Settlements proposed by the

director, in my view, run with a strong initial presumption that they are reasonable and fair.”

We don't have that direct parallel Madam Chair in this case because as you know Board Staff does not take a position on the settlement, although, as you know Board Staff participates in the process and raises concerns throughout the settlement process.  But I would say, however, that here we have virtual unanimity on this settlement, and I would paraphrase this to say that settlements that have unanimity or virtual unanimity run -- should run with a strong initial presumption that they are reasonable or fair.  I am going to come back to that point later.

     Then the Court goes on to say:   

“That presumption operates where, as here, the director is acting after extensive pretrial

discovery, on the advice of experienced and competent counsel, in circumstances where as negotiations have been conducted at arm's

length and indeed, in a manner which all parties agree, including the objectors was bona fide,” all that, of course applies here.

“In this context, the judicial evaluation of a proposed settlement involves a limited enquiry as to whether or not intended risks and costs are outweighed by the benefits of the proposed settlement.”

Then if you just flip the page to page 232, in the first full paragraph labelled B, the Court goes on to say:   

“This proposal, that is the settlement proposal, as noted comes forward at a point in the litigation when counsel have had an opportunity

to assess their positions in the light of the productions and discoveries made by the plaintiff and the defendants herein.  Such counsel are acting in recommending this proposal with a firm

grasp of the strengths and weakness of this case and it is not for this court to second guess that professional judgment.”

     In the end, the Court approved the settlement over the

objections of the minority shareholders.

     So that case, while of course not directly binding on this Board in my submission is a useful and articulate insight into the nature of settlements why they are in the public interest and what their role of the supervising authority should be in the context of reviewing the settlement, that is to say -- I will come back to this again as well -- that it need not satisfy every point need not satisfy every person, as long as at large the settlement falls within a reasonable range, which is acceptable to the parties.

     Contested proceedings before this court are of course a form of adversarial litigation.  As you know, adversarial litigation is inherently uncertain.  No one knows until the decision of the Board is released what the outcome of those contested proceedings will be, and it is, in part, that uncertainty within the bounds of what the evidence may reasonably support, that creates incentives for parties to resolve issues.     

This settlement conference involved representatives and representations of every conceivable interest within Union's franchise area.  We had municipalities, representatives of residential customers, residential -- representatives of schools and other institutional customers, small and large commercial customers, low-income customers, other utilities, small and large industrial customers, manufacturers and exporters, brokers, marketers, power generators and environmental interests, to name

only some.  

     While Board Staff as I've said is not a party to the

agreement, they do participate actively in identifying additional areas of possible concern throughout the process.

     All of these disparate interests were able to come

together after two weeks of difficult negotiations to a consensus on the financial issues in this case.  And that alone, that alone, in my submission, is sufficient indication that the rates produced by this settlement are just and reasonable and it is, therefore, in the public interest for the Board to adopt it.  And that, of course, is not the only evidence before you.  There is a volume of evidence before you, 13 volumes of evidence before you to support Union's request.

     My only point is, we have all of that and we of course rely on it.  But even without that, in my submission, it would be sufficient -- a sufficient indication of the reasonableness of the rates that the broad spectrum of disparate interests that are represented in this room are found to fall within a reasonable range and to be acceptable.

     So there is, of course, though as I say, the evidence of parties, powerful evidence that the should rely in addition to the settlement itself and as I say we, of course, do rely on that evidence.  

Turning back, then, to this settlement from the

general.  Net of demand side management costs which have been deferred to the DSM proceeding, Union's original application sought recovery of a revenue deficiency of $86 million.  The settlement results in a recovery of some $24.7 million revenue deficiency.  The rate increase resulting from this recovery is in the order of 3 percent, which is -- we're still working out the final details of this, but I am told it represents something in the order of less than $12 a year, since 2004 for an average residential customer which would translate into an annual increase of only $3 or $4 a year.  We of course plan to file the detailed rate schedules and working papers and expect actually to be able to do that perhaps later today or certainly within the next day or so.

     Union's evidence, in my submission, sets out comprehensively the need for a rate increase.  The evidence of infrastructure expansion, costs rising in excess of inflation, declining use per customer and other factors appear in Exhibit A2, tab 1 and in Exhibits B, C and D of the evidence, as well as in numerous answers to written interrogatories of which are identified by issue in the ‑‑ in the settlement conference.


Paragraph 1 of the settlement agreement itself, under the overview section at page 5, summarizes the evidence on this issue.  The summary says:   

"These factors driving the need for a rate increase include the impacts of high energy prices, conservation and demand management, foreign exchange, weather, workforce demographics, cost pressures which exceed the general rate of inflation and the investment climate and available investment opportunities."


Page 2 of the settlement agreement indicates that this is a package settlement.  I want to explain that.  At page 2, first paragraph, the settlement agreement records:

"The agreement of the parties that it is acknowledged and agreed that none of the completely settled provisions of this agreement is severable.  If the Board does not prior to the commencement of the hearing of the evidence in EB-2005‑0520 accept the completely settled provisions of the agreement in their entirety, there is no agreement, unless the parties agree that any portion of the agreement the Board does accept may continue as a valid agreement."


Now, there is a very good reason why the settlement agreement, in this case, and why settlement agreements in these cases, typically, contain this provision.  Settlement is, as you know, all about negotiation and compromise, and not everyone gets into the realm in which settlement becomes possible for the same reasons.


What may be acceptable to one party on one point may not be acceptable to someone else, but a concession may be made on one point to be offset by another compromise on a different point somewhere else, such that, in total, the settlement falls within a reasonable range acceptable to all parties.


This is particularly true where, as here, parties have negotiated and agreed to a comprehensive settlement of all financial matters.  It's a delicate balance.  No one feature can be changed without potentially upsetting everything else.  You have rate base settlement, revenues settlement and cost-of-service settlement.  These elements all interrelate; rate base and revenues, for example, a direct relationship between the two, because although there are rate base costs, when capital costs go into rate base, there are anticipated revenues that flow from those investments, just to take one example.  


These components of the financial settlement are all interrelated.


The parties take all of these factors into account during their negotiations and, in particular, of course, before deciding whether the final package is acceptable to them, and that is what happened in this case.  The financial components of the settlement were negotiated as a package, and the settlement agreement, therefore, reflects that reality.  


So it is for those reasons, Madam Chair, that we ask you to accept the settlement agreement as formulated.


Now, I told you there are a couple of other issues I wanted to address.  I had indicated to you that I would go quickly through the specific approvals requested so that you have an updated version of that.  We can and will, if it would assist you, turn around an updated hard copy so you have it.  But since we're often told ‑‑ at least I am often told by courts, and I have heard from this Board, that they want to be clear about what it is the applicant is actually asking for, I thought it would be useful to just go through this.


MS. NOWINA:  Always a good idea, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  To go through this, because sometimes all the voluminous evidence doesn't take you to the bottom line.


So if you have that, under the specific approvals requested ‑‑ yes, sorry.  In case you don't, I will of course read this into the record.  It is Exhibit A1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 1 of 2 corrected.  Just to say that again, it is A1, tab 3, schedule 1.


So the first, under specific approvals requested, phase 1, the first item is a settled issue, but the numbers change and the evidentiary references change.  So that has gone from the total revenue deficiency of 94.827 million to 24.717 million.


The global evidence on the original request is as stated, but you find the detailed schedules that show the derivation of that amount in appendix E to the settlement agreement itself, now. 


The second bullet point, approval of Union's proposed storage blanket order changes, that's been punted to the NGEIR proceeding, so it is not necessary for this Panel to make a decision on that issue.


The third bullet point, approval of proposed 24-month fixed cost purchase plan, that is not a settled item and you will be hearing evidence from Union's risk management panel on that issue hopefully later today.


The next three bullet points are all settled items.  The GDAR is a settled item.  The next one, change in capital structure, is a settled item.  That number, of course, is changed.  It's going from 35 now to 36 percent, not 40.


The capitalized overheads issue is a settled issue.


Then the next bullet point, having to do with S&T deferral accounts, those issues are all now in the NGEIR proceeding, so that carries over to page 2; again, therefore, not necessary for this Panel to make a determination of those issues.


The next bullet point, top of page 2, approval to close four deferral accounts after the year end balances are disposed of, that is a settled item.  All parties agreed to the closure of those four deferral accounts, once the final balances are cleared.


The next bullet point on the DSMVA, that is an issue that is now in the DSM generic proceeding, so it is not necessary for the Board to make a determination of that.  


The next bullet point, having to do with the methodology used to calculate the interest rate, I understand that the Board is proposing to issue a separate generic determination on that issue, so it is not necessary for this Panel to make a determination of that issue, either.  


Then the final issue, approval to sell gas to consumers, that's the undertakings issue with the Lieutenant Governor in Council.  That is a settled issue for the purposes of the test year.


Then turning to ‑‑ I think that should carry on to schedule 2, which is the phase 2 issues.  The first bullet point on the cost allocation study methodology, that is a completely settled issue.  The second bullet point, approval of the factors used to allocate GDAR compliance costs, that is a settled issue.  


The next bullet point, the approval of the overall rates, that is not a settled issue, so you will be hearing evidence from the cost allocation and rate design panel on the bundle of issues associated with final rates.


In the next bullet point, there is a mixed bag.  So within the sub-categories, the first two issues, the splitting of M2 rates and the approval to increase M2 and rate 01, monthly charges, those are not settled issues, so you will be hearing from the rates panel on those.  


The next point, approval to eliminate the M6 seasonal rate schedule, that is a settled issue.  And, actually, all of the other phase 2 issues listed on page 2 of 2 are now settled issues.  So that completes the review and update of the requests made.  


Then the final point I thought I would address, and I since heard this only via Board Staff, but I had understood that there was a question raised about the capital structure change and the ability of Union to raise the necessary capital to conduct its business, and a concern to reconcile the request and the evidence ‑‑ the original evidence that related to the request for a 40 percent equity ratio to the settled issue of 36 percent.


So I thought I would just spend a moment on that.  First of all, the settlement, I want to point out that in the overview portion of page 5 of the settlement, the statement is made that the rate adjustments that result from the settlement agreement

will allow the company to make investments to serve new and

existing customers.  I just wanted to pause there to say, it doesn't say and it is not Union's view, that will enable the company to make all of the capital investments that it may otherwise have wished to have made.  But it enables the company to make investments to serve new and existing customers to meet these requirements, i.e., to maintain the integrity of Union's system including business support processes and meet all compliance requirements.

     So the purpose of that sentence was to provide

acknowledgement of Union and the agreement of the parties that this will not adversely affect Union's capacity to maintain the integrity of its system and to meet all compliance requirements.     

It is, of course, the case that part of the way that Union will manage its ability to raise capital on a 36 percent ratio, equity ratio is that there is also an agreement to reduce capital spending.  So you are aware under the rate base portion of the agreement, that Union agreed that there would be a certain amount -- it's 35 million in rate base, about 70 million in the capital

budget itself reduction.

     It is Union's current view that it would not be in a

position to access the debt markets in 2007, because of the

interests covered ratios, but Union is looking at other options to finance capital plans, including the use of short-term debt and possibly the use of a preferred share issue.  I haven't come to a conclusion on that, but detailed analysis is being done of those options.

     It is Union's view that there is a satisfactory combination of financing vehicles that will support Union's plans for 2007.

So Union does believe that it can manage within these parameters.  How long that situation persists, however, and the impacts on Union's future capital plans will be driven primarily by the incentive regulation parameters that the Board will determine possibly next year.  I should actually add that that of course applies to virtually everything about the operation of the company, not just the ability to raise capital.  But an important feature obviously of the 

-- Union's ability to manage within the parameters it has agreed to in this settlement agreement will be what the parameters of any incentive regulation program will be,

and that, of course, everyone will have their chance to review and comment on in due course.

     So that is my overview and brief response to the question that I had understood was being posed by Board Staff with respect to that issue.  So with that, Madam Chair, those are my submissions on the settlement agreement, and I would, therefore, ask you to accept the agreement that the parties have reached.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  We will take submissions from others.  I anticipate that these submissions, in total, will not take more than about a half hour of our time.  I’d ask for anyone in the room who is interested in making submissions on the settlement agreement to let me now know that you would like to make such a submission.  Silence.  Everyone is in agreement.

Well, that doesn't surprise me.

     Mr. Crockford -- I'm sorry, Mr. Adams, you wish to make a submission?

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:

     MR. ADAMS:  One very minor item.  We are speaking in support of the agreement.  Although there is an evidence reference with respect to 3.15 that we should have caught in a previous round by I thought I would put it on the record here.  There are three evidence items that are listed and the third one should include Exhibit L, tab 10, schedules 1 through 12.

     MS. NOWINA:  That's the evidence record for issue 3.15 which is unsettled?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any other comments before we go to Mr. Crockford.  All right.  Mr. Crockford I will give you a little explanation of how things will proceed here.  You can make your submissions on the settlement agreement.  Later this morning, we will be hearing a motion and you also will have the opportunity to make submissions on that, if you wish, and then there are a number of unsettled issues, and as we go through them, if it is appropriate and you have an interest, you can also make

submissions on each of those.

     Do you understand that, Mr. Crockford?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  So your role right now is to make submissions on the settlement agreement, and as you make submissions on each of these topics as we get to them I would appreciate it if you could begin by letting us know what your concern is with the issue at hand.  So in this case, the settlement agreement, and what remedy you seek.  So what you would like to see happen regarding the settlement agreement.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.

     MS. NOWINA:  Then you may make your submissions.  You may go ahead now, Mr. Crockford.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CROCKFORD:
     MR. CROCKFORD:  Well, my first issue is with the panel's jurisdiction in this matter.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, the jurisdiction of the panel doesn't have anything to do with the settlement agreement.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Well, was this panel involved in the hearing?

     MS. NOWINA:  No, we were not.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.  I see right off – actually, I hurt my back this weekend so if my voice sounds a little cracky at times, I am having trouble breathing.

     MS. NOWINA:  It's okay.  Take your time, Mr. Crockford.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  As he read off the submissions, he mentioned in that case that the court accepted the settlement despite parties not accepting it, but he mentioned that discovery was provided.  As this panel knows, they refused to have Union provide me with my answers to my questions.  So actually, I am filing an appeal regarding this that matter and I was going to do it this weekend but I actually hurt my back so I have been out of commission.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, the appeal is certainly a remedy for a decision that we have already rendered regarding your request for additional information.  So this panel has dealt with that question and you are correct that your next step, if you wish to take one, is an appeal.  So that is not something for us to hear here.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  I was just letting you know where I'm at.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  So I’m not making any submissions on what you guys are doing right now?  Just file my appeal?

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So you are not going to make any submissions on the settlement agreement?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  No.  But I do not -- I'm not supporting it, is that clear.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I understand that, Mr. Crockford.  Mr. Crockford will you be making submissions on any of the other issues we will be hearing in this proceeding?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  No.  Because you haven't provided me with full discovery.  Sorry.  With all of the information I requested.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  So there is no point.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Crockford.  We will then go to Board counsel's submissions.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair, as Mr. Penny alluded to, we did have a brief discussion before we started today on the issues of Union 's ability to finance its capital investments.  I guess in anticipation of the question I was going to put on the record Mr. Penny in fact already provided the answer, and I don't have any follow-up questions based on what he has told us.  So I have nothing further to add on this.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

The panel doesn't have any questions either, Mr. Penny.  So that completes the hearing of the settlement.  Did you wish to make another submission?

     MR. PENNY:  If I could just have your indulgence for one second.

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


PROCEDURAL MATTER:     

MR. PENNY:  I only wanted to say very briefly in response to Mr. Crockford's objection, Madam Chair, that Mr. Crockford had notice of the settlement conference.  He chose not to participate.  He, in the circumstances, in my submission, an objector in that situation has a heavy onus to show why acceptance of the settlement is not in the public interest.  And in my submission, Mr. Crockford has not met that onus.  So I would ask you to disregard his objection.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  We will reserve our decision on the settlement agreement until later today when we've had an opportunity to break.  So we will go forward now with the hearing of the motion. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be making submissions in respect of the motion.


As you indicated earlier, this is a motion by Union to exclude or strike out in this proceeding the evidence of Roger Colton filed on behalf of the Low‑Income Energy Network or LIEN.  Specifically, Union seeks to strike out the report at Exhibit K15.1 prepared by Mr. Colton.  That report is entitled:  A ratepayer-funded home-energy affordability program for low‑income households, a universal service program for Ontario's energy utilities.


I will be making submissions on a motion record that you ought to have received.  It's blue bound.  I will also be making reference to a decision, with reasons, of this Board, of which you, Madam Chair and Mr. Sommerville, were members.  That's a decision that I believe you were provided copies of in respect of an application by Union to vary the M16 rate.


Finally, I may be referring to two additional interrogatories which were asked by the Consumers Council of Canada, those being interrogatories L15-0602 and L15-0603, which were asked of LIEN.  And, if necessary, I can get copies of those, but my expectation was that my reference would be brief and I will simply read them in.  The answers are very short.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Maybe, Mr. Millar, we will start marking some of these documents as exhibits.  I know that decisions don't necessarily have to be marked, but I think it would help the record if we did.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would actually like to start with the case that Mr. Penny distributed earlier entitled Sparling and Southam Inc.  Mr. Schuch advises me we're using the letter "M", as in Michael, for exhibits.  So that will be M1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.1:  CASE ENTITLED SPARLING AND SOUTHAM 
INC.

MR. MILLAR:  And the decision of the Board that was just distributed by Mr. Goulden, this is Union case RP-2003‑0063, will be M1.2.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.2:  UNION CASE RP-2003-0063.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  


MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure whether we are marking my motion record, but I guess that would be M1.3 if we are.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I think for convenience sake we will mark that, as well, M1.3.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.3:  MR. SMITH'S MOTION RECORD.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, in my submission, the evidence of Mr. Colton should be struck for two reasons.  One, the evidence is beyond the scope of the issues within ‑‑ which this ‑‑ sorry, beyond the scope of the issues which this Board has determined it will hear and decide in this proceeding.  And, two, the evidence is beyond the scope of any rates proceeding specific to Union Gas Limited.  The evidence is generic in nature and should more properly be the subject of a generic hearing.  


Before addressing those two submissions, I draw your attention to the report itself.  It is set out at tab 2 of Union's motion record.  Interrogatories in respect of the report were asked by Union, specifically without prejudice to Union's position that the report should be admissible, and those interrogatories are contained at tab 3 of the motion record.  


As I indicated, I will also be making reference to two interrogatories asked by the Consumers Council of Canada.


The report proposes what is called a rate affordability program for low‑income households.  While there are a number of components to the program, the thrust of it, as I understand it from reviewing the report, is, first, the establishment of what's called a credit system for eligible low‑income consumers.  That is at page 8 of the report.  Second ‑‑ sorry, page 8 of the motion record.  The second paragraph says:   

"Although a variety of percentage of income-based approaches exist, delivery of rate affordability assistance through using a fixed credit approach is most appropriate.  The fixed credit approach begins as an income‑based approach.  In order to be eligible for the rate, a household must meet both eligibility criteria:  One, that the household income is at or below the low‑income cut-off for Ontario; and, two, that the household energy burden exceeds the burden deemed to be affordable."


Second the report proposes what is called an arrearage management program, whereby people who are receiving the credit above will also receive a second credit, which will reduce any arrearage or bad debt they may owe to Union or to any utility. And I will come to that.  


Third, the report proposes a fund or budget to provide additional "crisis funding", presumably where the credit, which I have described before, proves insufficient. 


Fourth, the report proposes a DSM component targeted specifically to low‑income consumers.


Now, there is, of course, a cost to all of the foregoing, and that is set out specifically at page 34 of the motion record. It's part 7 of Mr. Colton's report, and it deals with cost recovery.  I would make this observation.  The report is somewhat opaque on exactly how these costs are to be recovered.  It indicates simply, in the first sentence of page 34 under the heading "Part 7 Cost Recovery:

"The rate affordability program described in this document focuses on a ratepayer-funded rate affordability program."


And there are no specifics really beyond that described at least in that section.  Now, Union did ask an interrogatory in respect of this cost and how it is to be paid for, and that is at page 51 of the motion record.  It's interrogatory L15-0005.  The question asks:

"Please estimate the cost to Union associated with implementing LIEN's proposals."


Without going through the answer in its entirety, you will see that LIEN's response is that the rate affordability proposal could operate on a budget of roughly $40 million, which, as I understand it from the answer, will be recovered through a monthly meter charge charged to residential/commercial ‑‑ sorry, it is $40 million.  I may have said 30.  It is $40 million.  You will see that's the total of the class meters charge.


So you will see what Mr. Colton is proposing is a monthly meter charge charged to residential, commercial and industrial customers, escalating in size such that residential customers would pay a monthly charge of $1.25.  Industrial customers, as I understand it, would pay $250 each.


Thus, for Union alone, the cost is $40 million.  And I will come to this, but, in my submission, the cost of this program far exceeds $40 million because, of course, it is proposed for all utilities across Ontario.  But for Union alone, it is $40 million, and it is a $40 million subsidy by some ratepayers to others.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, when you say Union, you mean within the Union franchise.


MR. SMITH:  That's absolutely correct.  It is ratepayers within the Union franchise will be paying, by way of cross-subsidy, $40 million to low‑income consumers in Union's franchise area.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Turning to my first submission, in Union's view the evidence is inadmissible and not within the scope of the issues as framed by this Board.  As, Madam Chair, you alluded to, this is an application to fix rates beginning for the year beginning January 1, 2007.  


Following the filing of Union's application back, I believe, in late 2005, this Board issued Procedural Order No. 1.  That procedural order directed two significant things, in my submission.  One, it directed that the Board would convene an issues day to hear submissions in respect of the issues to be decided by this Board.  And, in this regard, the Board directed an issues conference that parties would participate in, in an effort to come to some agreement on what those issues might be.  Further, the Board proposed a draft issues list that would frame that discussion on what the issues would be.  And that draft or proposed issues list was attached to Procedural Order No. 1.

     Second, the Board directed a schedule for the conduct of this hearing, including the timing of any intervenor evidence.  In my submission, one of the things that procedural order does not provide for which is of significance on this motion is for the right of reply by intervenors to other intervenors' own evidence.

     Now, pursuant to the procedural order, as this Board knows, an issues conference was convened on March 3rd, 2006.  The proposed issues list arising from the issues conference is set out at tab 4.  It is marked as appendix A.  It is tab 4 to the motion record.  It begins at page 55 answer wheel we don't have a record of it my notes indicate LIEN participated in the issues conference.

     You will see, Madam Chair, that the format of the proposed issues list lays out each of the proposed issues under the various headings and it identifies, for this Board's consideration, those issues which were contested.

     So if you turn to page 56, you will see under issue 3.16 and in fact 3.15 should have been so indicated, but you will see under issue 3.16, contested the appropriateness of the gas cost risk management program and that was identified so the parties at the issues day could make submissions on whether or not a particular issue ought to be decided by this Board.

     You will see on the proposed issues list there is no mention at all of a rate affordability program as a proposed issue.

     On March 8th, 2006 the Board convened an issues day.  Tab 6 includes an extract of the transcript from the issues day.  And I have included it for this purpose.  You will see on page 65 of the motion record, a list of appearances.  Towards the bottom of the page there is a reference to Mr. Malcolm Jackson on behalf of the Low Income Energy Network.  Mr. Jackson was present during the issues day which was convened by the Board.  Now I have not provided the entire issues day transcript for this reason.  There are no submissions, during the issues day, that were made in

respect of a rate affordability program.  In fact, there were no submissions made on what LIEN now says this issue falls under, which is issue 6.1.  Simply no submissions at all.

     As a result in my submission Union and all intervenors who now oppose -- I expect there will be a number of intervenors who oppose the inclusion of this issue -- were denied at least the first instance opportunity to make submissions in respect of the issues, were denied an opportunity that this would be, from LIEN's perspective, a heads up, that it was something on which they might like to ask interrogatories, or on which they might choose to file evidence.     

In the result, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 4, that is found at tab 5 of my motion record.  You will see beginning at page 61 of the motion record behind tab 5 is the final issues list issued by this Board.  Again, there is no specific mention of rate affordability as a specific issue.   Now LIEN, in answer to interrogatories asked by Union and CCC, has taken the position and will take the position on this motion, as I understand it, that the issue falls within the ambit of issue 6.1; that issue is set out on page 63 of the motion record.  And it asks:  Is the full schedule of rates, as proposed in Exhibit H3, tab 2 appropriate?

     Now, you will remember, Madam Chair, you might recall there was some discussion at the issues day about what the word "appropriate" means, but in my submission any interpretation of section 6.1 that would see the issue which LIEN would have this Board hear is beyond any reasonable interpretation of that issue and is without merit, for at least two reasons.

     First, -- and I will be referring to the decision I passed up relating to the M16 rate which is Exhibit M1.2.  You might recall, Madam Chair and Member Sommerville that this was an application by Union to vary the rate charged to M16 customers.  There was a short proceeding convened.  Union, in response to a directive issued by the Board in RP-2003–0063 to consider the rate M16 had come up with a rate and the rate was opposed by two intervenors in particular, Tribute Resources and Northern Cross Limited who, in effect were asking for special rate treatment on the basis that they were embedded storage operators in Union's franchise area, thus qualified for rate relief.

This Board at page five of that decision makes reference to the way in which Union goes about setting rates as this Board has established in its decisions over the years.  I will just read it.  It is the fourth paragraph down on Page 5.

“Over the years, the Board has had many requests for special status for a customer group or a customer.  The Board has been consistent in its approach to such requests by hearing to its

established principles in dealing with cost allocation and rate setting.  Principled rate making involves the creation of a unified and theoretically consistent set of rates for all

participants within the system.  It begins with the establishment of a revenue requirement for the regulated utility, and proceeds to design rates for the respective classes according to well-recognized and consistent theory respecting such elements as cost allocation.  This is an objective and dispassionate process which is driven by system integrity and consistent treatment between consumers on the system.  Principled ratemaking typically does not involve a ranking of interest according to a

subjective view of the societal value of any given participant or a group of participants.  This approach is not unique to Ontario.  A departure from these principles should only be undertaken where the evidence in all circumstances outweigh the inherent value of an objective process.”

     Now, I will not be tipping my hand one bit, I

assume, when I say if this Board allows the evidence of course we will be taking the position that LIEN's proposal is inconsistent with established ratemaking principles, but I draw your attention to this passage because Union's rates, as proposed in this proceeding, are based upon the established ratemaking principles which this Board has articulated so nicely and succinctly in this decision, and it is the framework, in my submission, within which, the prism within which issue 6.1 has to be interpreted.

     In other words, what did the parties have in mind when

considering 6.1?  Was it a departure from established ratemaking principles?  Or were the parties when interpreting 6.1 bearing in mind the principles referred to in this decision?  And, in my submission, it is only reasonable that the parties would have had in mind this decision and previous decisions by the Board and established rate-making principles.


In my submission, where specific rate issues are raised, it is incumbent on parties, who seek that relief, to specifically raise the issues.  And we have an example in this proceeding, a good example, of a specific dispute between the parties regarding a rate issue, and that is the M2 rate.  Union has come forward with a proposal to redesign the M2 rate, to split it into the M1 and M2 rates, and that is a specific issue in this proceeding. 


I believe it is 6.3, and you will be hearing evidence in respect of it.  The parties agree and this Board determined that it was an appropriate issue and has been specifically enumerated.


Now, the second submission, the second point I would make on this first submission that it's not within the scope of issue 6.1, is LIEN has all but admitted that this evidence does not fall within issue 6.1.


As the Board will hear, LIEN has brought a cross-motion.  Now, LIEN will say, without prejudice to its position, that is included in issue 6.1.  Out of an abundance of caution, it is bringing a cross-motion to add issues to the issues list.  But, in my submission, if you look at what LIEN is actually proposing to add to the issues list, there can be no doubt that the current issue, 6.1, does not include Mr. Colton's evidence.


I draw your attention to my friend's cross-motion record at page 2.  This hasn't been marked as an exhibit yet, but I am sure it will be.  At page 2 of that cross-motion record, LIEN asks for an order under Rule 30.04 adding the following as an issue to the issues list, appended to Procedural Order No. 3 -- actually, it should be actually number 4.


What LIEN sets out there is not one issue but, consistent with Mr. Colton's report, four issues:  Should the residential rate schedules for Union Gas include a rate affordability assistance program for low-income consumers?  That's one specific issue that could have been included at issues day.


Two, how should a program be funded?  How should eligibility criteria be determined?  Of course, this comes right from Mr. Colton's report on who should meet the criteria.


And, four, how should levels of assistance be determined?


So, in my submission, LIEN itself in their cross-motion has recognized that what they're proposing is not one issue and certainly not something that falls under issue 6.1, but four issues.


Now, I would say, simply by way of addition to that, this Board and the DSM generic proceeding has issued a procedural order in respect of a number of issues ‑‑ in respect of the issues that will be decided, and there is, of course, an issue in that proceeding, as, Madam Chair, you will be familiar with, relating to low‑income programs, should there be any targeted to low‑income customers.  And that issue also includes a sub-issue, of course, the eligibility criteria.  


So, in my submission, where the parties and LIEN, in particular, have wanted to, they have been able to draw their issues specifically to the Board's attention.  That has not been done here.  It is clearly not within issue 6.1 and ought to be excluded.


Now, the second reason why I say the evidence should be excluded is the evidence is generic in nature.


On the face of the program, on the face of the report, the program that Mr. Colton and LIEN are proposing is designed for all utilities in the province.  As I said before, the report is entitled:  A ratepayer-funded home energy affordability program for low‑income households, a universal service program for Ontario's energy utilities.


If you look at interrogatory L15-0002, which is at page 48 of the motion record, Union asked the specific question whether or not it's LIEN's position that the programs or actions proposed in its evidence should be adopted by all natural gas LDCs in Ontario.  Is it LIEN's position that the program actions proposed in its evidence should be adopted by all electricity distributors in Ontario?  Answer:  

"Exhibit 15.1 indicates that the proposed home energy affordability program would be appropriate for all electric and natural gas utilities in Ontario.  Exhibit 15.1 does outline a small utility alternative for the rate affordability component of the program."


Similarly, on the page over, at page 49, you will see an additional interrogatory from Union.  That is L15-0003.  

"Was this evidence prepared specifically for the purpose of being filed in this proceeding?"  


Answer:  Parenthetically "no".  This report was produced in preparation for LIEN's interventions before the OEB, and presumably that means all interventions.  And, as this Board will know, LIEN intervenes, as far as I am aware, in virtually every proceeding before this Board.


Now, as I indicated earlier, the cost of the subsidy which LIEN, through Mr. Colton, is proposing is $40 million to Union's ratepayers.  Now, this obviously represents a significant amount. It also represents, in my submission, a fundamental way in which rates are set for ratepayers, a departure from the principles I mentioned earlier and that the Board enumerated in its M16 decision.


Now, further, in my submission, the true cost of what Mr. Colton is proposing is not $40 million, but a much, much larger amount.  If this is appropriate for Union's ratepayers, surely the argument would follow that it is appropriate for all ratepayers, low‑income ratepayers, in Ontario.  


As a simple matter of fairness, I suppose that makes sense; otherwise, low‑income consumers in Union's franchise area would be advantaged relative to their low‑income cousins in the rest of Ontario, and, similarly, residential and commercial and industrial customers who pay the subsidy, the meter charge, in Union's franchise area would be disadvantaged relative to similarly-situated customers elsewhere in Ontario.


Enbridge, of course, as this Board will know, is a utility of comparable size to Union.  In my submission, it is reasonable and logical to conclude that the subsidy which Enbridge's ratepayers would be asked to pay is equally $40 million.  While I do not note the numbers for the electric utilities, I am ‑‑ I believe it would be fair to say that what we are talking about is an amount of money over $100 million.  That is a large amount of money, obviously.  And, in my submission, a subsidy of that size, without delving into the merits of it at all, should only be considered in the context of a generic proceeding which would involve all stakeholders, all ratepayers across Ontario, whether electric or natural gas.


And my submission in respect to the appropriateness of this issue for a generic proceeding is reinforced by two additional facts which come from answers to interrogatories, which were asked of LIEN by the Consumers Council of Canada, the first of which is interrogatory L15-0603.  That is not in the motion record, and I apologize, but I will read it briefly.  


LIEN was asked specifically by CCC, echoing Mr. Penny's comments earlier: 

"What specific relief is LIEN seeking in this proceeding regarding an Ontario home energy affordability program?
     The answer.  This is not an interrogatory concerning the evidentiary content of Exhibit K15.1.  Without limiting LIEN's right to seek any specific relief relating to the evidentiary record in this proceeding, LIEN submits that it seeks to reveal improvements that should be considered in respect of low-income energy consumers through, for example, the rate schedules for residential customers including rates, terms and conditions, and

administration applicable to those schedules.  At the appropriate time, LIEN will make arguments and submissions regarding specific relief sought.

     In my submission, what this interrogatory tells you is LIEN is not in a position to tell you exactly what they're asking for.  I have derived that from Mr. Colton's report, perhaps as a reasonable conclusion.  But I read this interrogatory to say LIEN is seeking to have this issue addressed to draw what, in their submission, is a significant -- and it is, a significant issue to this board's attention.  And it hopes to do it in this

proceeding.  But in my submission, the more appropriate forum for that issue is a generic proceeding.

     The second interrogatory which LIEN answered which in my mind is consistent only with a generic proceeding is:  L15-06-02.  The Consumers Council of Canada asked:  What was the total cost of this study and how was it funded?

     LIEN's answer is:  LIEN does not think that this is an

appropriate interrogatory.  However, without prejudice thereto, we provide the following information.  The total cost for this study and report was $5,000.  It was funded by the advocacy centre for tenants Ontario, a member of LIEN.  LIEN has undertaken not to seek other funding for this work.

     In my submission, that interrogatory is consistent only with the view that LIEN has determined that it would not be appropriate for ratepayers, in this proceeding, to be charged with Mr. Colton's work.  And in my submission, that is also consistent with a generic proceeding where the benefit of Mr. Colton's work would be paid for by all ratepayers across Ontario.     

Now, in conclusion it is Union's submission the evidence should be excluded from the two principal reasons I have enumerated.   One, that it is beyond the scope of the issues determined by the Board, a fact which in my submission LIEN has all but admitted in its cross motion.  

Second, the scope of the issues raised by LIEN, a $100 million cross-subsidy by ratepayers in Ontario to 

low-income consumers ought to be considered in the context of a generic proceeding.  

So subject to any questions the Board may have, those are my submissions.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Do any parties want to speak in support of Union's motion?

     MR. WARREN:  We do, Madam Chair.

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, Enbridge Gas Distribution does as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass

     MR. DeROSE:  And IGUA will as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, TransAlta and Coral are also in support of Enbridge's motion -- Union's motion.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  I do that too, Ms. DeMarco.  

MR. DINGWALL:  CME will make some brief submissions in support as well.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.

     MR. ADAMS:  As will Energy Probe.

     MS. NOWINA:  If I forget anyone let me know.  

Mr. Warren, do you want to start.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN: 

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, the issue of whether or not the LIEN evidence should be considered in this proceeding, in our respectful submission, the starting point is to consider the nature of the evidence which LIEN has filed and the relief, if any, which it seeks.

     Mr. Colton's evidence proposes the adoption of what is

called a universal service program for all Ontario utilities, both gas and electric.  At the heart of this program is a rate affordability component.  And under that component, a class of low-income consumers would be identified and a subsidy would be provided to its members.  The subsidy would be paid by other ratepayers, and as Mr. Smith has indicated, Exhibit L15-0005 indicates that residential consumers, the class of consumers that my client represents, would pay some $16 million of the expect

overall cost of some $40 million for the program, presumably in the first year and every year thereafter.

     In my respectful submission, Mr. Colton's evidence is not a direct critique of Union's rate design evidence.  It is not, in other words, directly related to the issue 6.1.

     Rather, it is a proposal for a fundamental change in the way rates are established.  It is, in my respectful submission, not a difference in degree, but a difference in kind.

     The proposal is, in essence, one, that redistributes income.  It's in effect a taxation proposal and not a rate design proposal.

     Also, is one that, in my respectful submission, would have this regulator play the role which is ordinarily and

appropriately reserved for the elected representatives of the people.

     Since the proposal applies by its terms to all utilities, the acceptance by the Board in Union's case would necessarily have implications for all other utilities, including Enbridge and all of the electrics.  In our respectful submission, there are a number of grounds on which the Board should strike this evidence.

To begin with, we concur with Mr. Smith's submission that it does not address any matters on the issues list.

     As I understand my friend's argument, counsel for LIEN

argues that the evidence is relevant to issue 6.1, that is

whether the schedule of rates is appropriate.  In my respectful submission, this argument ignores the nature of the evidence and the proposal.  It is not evidence, in my respectful submission, about Union's rate design per se but rather about the public policy which should inform or dictate the way rates are set.

     The second argument that is advanced by LIEN is that there is some issue of procedural fairness and propriety with respect to this evidence.  Given the nature of the evidence and under the proposal, LIEN should have given notice of its intentions by at least the issues day so that parties could have discussed its relevance and the propriety of putting the issue on the list.  The Board would then have had the benefit of the argument on the point on issues day.  And instead the evidence was delivered after the parties affected by it have an opportunity to respond.

     As Mr. Smith has pointed out, the way this evidence was delivered has effectively denied parties, including my client whose constituency will be represented, an opportunity to respond to the evidence.

     This, in my respectful submission, is neither fair nor

appropriate.  In addition, it denies the Board the opportunity to have a full evidentiary record because all of the affected parties cannot join issue on this proposal.

     The third issue is, LIEN argues it has no other mechanism to get this issue heard.  I submit, with respect, that there is no automatic right in a party to have an issue heard.  There is, in other words, no issue of fairness that LIEN has been denied in some way.  It could have asked that the issue be placed on the issues list, which is what, in my respectful submission, it should have done.  There are other mechanisms that are available

to LIEN.

     Given this issue, which is in both generic in its nature as Mr. Smith has pointed out, but also speaks to a fundamental public policy shift in the way rates are set, LIEN could ask the Board to exercise its power under section 21 of the Ontario Energy Board Act to convene a generic process to consider the proposal.  So there is a mechanism.  The mechanism which would allow parties

to make submissions.  Doing so, as I say, would allow all affected utilities and ratepayers to participate and would ensure procedural fairness to everyone.  In the alternative, LIEN could ask the minister to issue a policy directive under policy directive under Section 27 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  Doing so would at least engage the elected officials, that is those who are accountable for the decision dealing with what we submit is essentially the proposal for income redistribution.

     LIEN's argument that the Board's objective require it, that is the Board, to consider the evidence and proposal, in my respectful submission the Board's objective 'dictate exactly the opposite result.  Section 2 of the Board's act requires the Board to protect the interests of all consumers and not just low-income consumers.

     By delivering its evidence in the way it has, LIEN has

effectively precluded other consumers from responding.  This is not only a matter of fairness, but it makes it difficult, if not impossible for the Board to carry out that objective, because it is deprived of the evidence about the impact on the consumers.  The Board's objective set out by the legislature in Section 2 of the Act is a broad one and applies to all consumers and not any particular class of consumers.


Finally, LIEN's submission in its cross-motion that the issues list should be amended to include LIEN's proposal is, in our respectful submission, simply too late to do so, without reopening the proceedings to allow all parties to lead evidence.


I have not had an opportunity, Madam Chair, to do anything more than review, in a cursory way, the cases which LIEN has filed, but my reading of them, admittedly in a cursory fashion, is that they all deal broadly with the power of the Board in particular circumstances to grant certain kinds of relief.


The opposite argument is that the Board should exercise those powers judiciously and carefully and should not embark upon a fundamental restructuring of the way its rates -- without appropriate notice to all parties and an opportunity to respond.  When I say "parties", I mean not just the parties in this proceeding, but also the other utilities in the province.  


In our respectful submission, the evidence should be struck.  And, finally, we support and adopt the submissions filed by ‑‑ delivered by my friend, Mr. Smith.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Cass?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, it is probably obvious to everyone, but the interest of Enbridge Gas Distribution in this particular motion is two‑fold.  First, the outcome of the Board's determination as to what should happen with this issue that essentially is of a generic nature will impact Enbridge Gas Distribution and its upcoming rate case. 


Second, Enbridge Gas Distribution itself is an ex‑franchise customer of Union, and I believe in that capacity is probably Union's largest customer.  I don't know the details of how the rate design or implications for other customers of this particular proposal would eventually be sorted out.  Obviously, though, as Union's largest customer, the implications of who would bear the burden, the financial burden, of the proposal is a matter of concern to Enbridge Gas Distribution.


Madam Chair, Mr. Smith in his submissions put forward essentially two grounds in support of the motion.  At the risk of oversimplifying, and with apologies to Mr. Smith, as I understood them they were essentially, first, that the matter is outside the issues list for this proceeding; and, second, that the matter is not an appropriate one for any individual utility rate proceeding, because it's generic.


Of those two issues, Madam Chair, it is the second that I wish to focus on.  Should the Board's determination on this motion be to disallow the evidence on the narrow first ground, that it's outside the issues list for this particular proceeding, I think it is easy for us all to surmise where the issue will land next.  It will then be back on the table, so to speak, as another issue as to whether it is appropriate for some other utility's individual rate case, such as Enbridge Gas Distribution, or whether, again, it is properly treated as a generic issue.  


For that reason, Madam Chair, I put much more emphasis on the second point, because, while the first point is a valid one and I don't wish to take away from the arguments that others make in support of that, I think the implications for a company like Enbridge Gas Distribution are that a determination on that issue alone, being whether it is within the scope of this proceeding, will mean that the broader issue as to whether it is generic or individual will still remain to be determined somewhere else, and potentially in Enbridge Gas Distribution's rate case.


So on that basis, Madam Chair, I wish to make three points, and I think I can do so fairly quickly, about the nature of this issue and in support of the submission by Enbridge Gas Distribution that this is a generic issue that ought to be decided and considered in a generic fashion, rather than in any individual utility's rate case.


First, as Mr. Smith has capably pointed out, the Board has not, in its traditional approach to rate-making, considered matters such as the economic circumstances of a recipient of a particular utility service.


In my submission, the proposal before the Board is such a radical departure from what this Board for many years has done in its traditional approach to rate-making, that in line with what Mr. Warren said, it is my submission that such a change at this point in time must come from the government.  


It could come from the government in different forms.  It could be a policy decision by the government that, through taxpayers, there would be a funding for energy costs of low‑income customers.  It could be, as Mr. Warren said, potentially a request for a policy directive from the government.  It could even, if the government believes it is an appropriate consideration for this Board, be an amendment to the Board's legislation to make it an appropriate consideration.


In my submission, though, given the Board's long tradition of how it sets rates, this sort of a radical departure, again, is a matter at this point in time for the government to address in one of many possible ways; one or more of many possible ways, perhaps.


Second, Madam Chair, as I have already alluded to, and others have, as well, if the Board does consider it appropriate to address this sort of radical departure from its traditional rate-making process, in my submission it should be addressed first in some sort of a generic proceeding.


I say that for at least two reasons, Madam Chair.  I say it because the issue is really a policy issue, and also because the issue is obviously a generic one.


In terms of the policy aspect of the issue, Madam Chair, I won't go into a lot of detail, but one can readily see, in reading Exhibit K15.1, that there are many, might I say, administrative details and even rate design details that have not, in any fashion, been worked out in this paper.  


For example, Enbridge Gas Distribution is very concerned about the role that a utility would have to play in determining eligibility for any such program.


In fact, the paper does have a proposed answer to that concern.  The paper, at page 2, Exhibit K15.1, indicates that the ‑‑ this is under point 3, "Intake", on page 2:

"Primary intake should occur by contracting with relevant federal and provincial agencies to match electronic lists of residential customers with lists of social assistance program participants."


That's just not quite halfway down the page on page 2 under the heading "Intake".


Now, this is one potential solution or attempted solution to what Enbridge Gas Distribution perceives as a very difficult administrative problem; that is, determining eligibility.   At a high level, this may appear to be a reasonable answer to the difficulty.  However, even assuming that relevant federal and provincial agencies are in a position to fill this role, able and willing to do so, one can readily envisage the difficulties that would arise from trying to match electronic lists of residential customers with lists of participants in social assistance programs.  There could be the smallest difference in names or addresses, or who the participants in the program are, as amongst family members.  There could be any number of these difficulties in attempting to do that matching.


My point, Madam Chair, is simply to bring out that there are ‑‑ and this is an example only ‑‑ many administrative details of this that would need to be worked out.


There is, in my submission, a considerable administrative burden that needs to be addressed.


The paper, Exhibit K15.1, is pitched at the policy level.  It doesn't get into the detail of how this would actually be worked out and achieved.  It doesn't even, as I read it, get into the basic rate design issues.


In my submission, this is a policy paper, and without any criticism intended, it is almost as if this is a little bit backwards.  The policy would need to be dealt with in a generic proceeding, to the extent that the Board agreed with the policy -- what's appropriate for the rate case is the mechanics, the rate design, and the things that are not in this paper.

     So not only is it a generic issue, but it's one that is pitched at a policy level that lacks the detail that would be appropriate for an individual utility's rate case.

     On the issue of it being generic, I don't think I need to add really to what has been said, particularly in light of the interrogatory response that was given, but I did observe, as I was reading Exhibit K15.1, at page 7 where the purpose of a home energy affordability program in Ontario is stated, it's stated actually in relation to promotion of the supply of affordable electric service to low-income customers.  That is said to be the purpose of a home energy affordability program on page 7 of Exhibit K15.1.  I don't think anything more really needs to be

said to support the proposition that not only is this a policy matter, it is a generic matter that spans not only gas utilities, but also electricity LDCs in Ontario.

     Now, my third point is this, Madam Chair, and I am wrapping up.  This will be brief.  My third point is as follows:  If the Board as a policy matter, decided that contrary to the submissions I have already made, it is appropriate to consider whether it should depart from the way that it has traditionally approached the setting of rates, in my submission this is a policy matter that involves potentially many parties other than

simply LIEN and its constituency.  I don't want to say here

today that anybody has a particular claim to special, if I

can use that word -- I don't use it in a pejorative sense 

-- special treatment from the Board.  However, if the Board is as a policy matter wishes to consider whether that road should be taken, potentially there are other groups that deserve just as much consideration as LIEN.  One can think for example of charitable institutions, non-profit organizations, hospitals, one could go on with the list, religious institutions.

     In other words, Madam Chair, if the Board is going to signal that it feels it is appropriate to go down this road and give consideration to this, it should be in a broader context where those who want to make a case, similar to LIEN's, should have the opportunity to do so.  

In my submission and the submission of Enbridge Gas Distribution, the issue should not considered in the context where one party brings it forward and therefore is the only one with the opportunity to make that case.

     Again, I am not suggesting that any of these particular parties necessarily would merit any different treatment than anyone else.  My point is simply, this is an issue of a generic nature and not only is it generic on the utility side across electric and gas utilities, it is also generic in relation to the customer side and what customers, if any, would qualify should the Board decide to take an approach of this nature.

     Those are my submissions, Madam Chair, thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. DeRose, I might ask Mr. DeRose, we have heard the same arguments a couple of times.  If we could keep it to new arguments as much as possible.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeROSE:

     MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely, Madam Chair, I have been trying to strike things off as we go, and I think it will be much briefer than those in front of me.

     Let me begin by saying that IGUA is opposed to the evidence being heard in this hearing and the relief being

sought in the cross motion.

     In our submission, as those before us have pointed out, this is a cross subsidy.  In terms of the impact which it would have on industrial customers, which we represent, it is approximately a $16 million a year impact for those in our constituent rate classes.  So it is 16 million for residential, 16 million for industrial, in terms of a 

Big-picture impact on a year-by-year analysis.

     I would simply submit this on the issues day -- and to us there is an importance to approaching issues day in a responsible manner.  When a party seeks to depart from

principles of cost causality and well-established principles of rate design and ratemaking, it is incumbent upon them to notify the Board and interested parties in an open and transparent manner at an early point in the process.

     The Board has established issues conferences and issues days for that very purpose.  In this regard, I would like to refer you to LIEN's responding motion record.  I don't believe it has actually been marked as an exhibit yet, so --

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that, Mr. Millar.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'm going to be stealing Mr. Manning's thunder by marking the motion record.  I think we're at 

M -- M1.4.  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

     MS. NOWINA:  This is LIEN's response to motion and notice of cross motion.

     EXHIBIT NO. M1.4: LIEN'S response to motion and NOTICE 
of cross motion
     MR. DeROSE:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. DeRose.

     MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, if I could just take you to -– it is page 4 in the handwritten -- I received mine by fax, so I am assuming that yours has the handwritten at the top.  It's page 4, both in the handwritten and in the typed of the response to motion and notice of cross motion.  Paragraph 8.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

     MR. DeROSE:  I would like to deal with paragraph 8, because paragraph 8 is the only explanation that we have on the record and that you have on the record as to why LIEN did not raise this at issues day.  Why did they not identify the issues on issues day?

     Keep in mind -- well, I will get to that in one moment.  They write this, second paragraph or second sentence, paragraph 8:

“The issues day only dealt with those issues arising from Union's pre-filed evidence which had not been agreed at a prior issues conference that was held between Board Staff, Union and

various intervenors.”

     Let me stop there.  As Mr. Crawford has pointed out and as the record also shows in terms of issues day, LIEN was represented during that process by Mr. Malcolm Jackson, which, as this panel would know, is a former Board member.  I can remember Mr. Jackson, when he was a Board member, sitting on issues day at various hearings.

     So there is no doubt that they knew the importance of issues day and the importance of raising these issues.  Then they go on to say this: 

“It is respectfully submitted that LIEN’s issue was not raised on issues day because it falls within issue 6.1 and was not an outstanding issue.”

     Now, I am not going to address the fact that it doesn't fall in 6.1; others have, and we simply adopt their argument.  In our submission, it doesn't fall within 6.1.

     The fact that it was not an outstanding issue, IGUA

actually agrees with that.  In fact we would say it was an

unknown issue to anyone except LIEN.  It could not be reasonably anticipated by any other stakeholder or intervenor on issues day that this issue was coming forth in this case.

     In this regard -- in our submission, parties should not be rewarded for holding back on notifying other parties of the issues that they intend to raise and then bringing forth evidence and attempting to have the issues added on the back end, which, in our submission, is exactly what's happened in this case.

     In our submission, the manner in which LIEN proceeded its decision not to identify the issues prior to the filing of its evidence has deprived intervenors of the ability to file responding evidence in a meaningful manner and has, as a result, deprived this panel of a full and fair record.

Now, if you agree with Union and the others that have spoken and you do not hear this matter in this hearing, I think it is important that you recognize, LIEN is not then precluded from bringing forth the same evidence in a future case.  Others have already talked about the appropriateness of a generic hearing and whether it is appropriate in a generic hearing or a future rates case, you don't have to decide that today.

     The point is, you are not precluding them from arguing this issue in the appropriate forum with all parties being given appropriate notice, and with a full and fair record before you, which is, in our submission, the way that this issue should be dealt with.  And it won't be dealt with in this hearing on a full and fair record if we proceed.

     Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose, Mr. Dingwall.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  I will be very brief.  I agree with the submissions of my friends.  I think there are two main points that I would like to make in addition to those, the first point, following up on Mr. Cass's representation that there are not the correct people in the room to determine an issue of cross-subsidy, whether it is appropriate and to whom it should go.


There are also not the people in the room to determine what the impact of such measures might be on the existing marketplace.  In many of the States that have LIHEAP programs, these began prior to the implementation of competitive natural gas markets. They didn't anticipate those markets.  And when you look at things such as the removal of late payment penalties or the changing to the priorities of disconnection and the establishment of new parameters relating to disconnection, these very questions could have a significant impact on both Union Gas's and Enbridge's abilities to purchase receivables, as they do under the existing agent billing and collecting regime, and that could have a significant impact on the marketplace.


Those players aren't here.  Many of them probably don't even know that this is happening.


My second submission is that we need to look at the legislative mandate of this Board, and I'm only going to make a brief mention of what is not in the OEB Act.


The OEB Act does not establish a consumer service function for the OEB which would enable it or empower it to do any form of means determination in order to address the disparities or purported disparities between individual members of rate classes.


The report which has been filed is incomplete, in it that it does not establish or set forth what the legislative frameworks are in the other jurisdictions they're quoting as examples.  I happen to have had some personal experience in one such market, Pennsylvania, in which the Pennsylvania code specifically, through chapter 56, sets out significant detailed obligations for the Utility Commission, including those which establish a separate body within the commission, the Bureau of Consumer Services, and set out its powers, sets out its limitations and sets out the regulatory framework which then establishes these programs.


In the absence of such legislative or even regulated framework, it is suggested that there is no basis in current law for the OEB to take on such a potential mandate.  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Adams.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  I have nothing further to add.  I support the submissions of the previous counsel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Have I missed anyone? Ms. DeMarco.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My clients take no position on the Board's future consideration of the evidence and proposed policy addressed by LIEN.  So my comments are confined to the inclusion of the LIEN evidence and the resulting particularized policy issues in this proceeding.


I generally support Mr. Warren and Mr. DeRose's submissions, with two further comments.


The first is an examination of the existing issues list supports Union's motion to exclude the evidence in this proceeding.


If I can ask you to turn to appendix A to the settlement agreement, which is the proposed issues list, you will see there are a number of general issues, and where there are specific sub-issues or items with significant financial or policy impact, those issues are particularized within the issues list.


Now, I know this is not always the way the Board proceeds. Occasionally it likes to have a high-level issues list, but in this specific instance -- for example, looking at issue 3.3, the issue pertains to the overall O&M budget.  Following 3.3, in issues 3.4 through to 3.9 there are specific particularized sub-issues that pertain to policy or financial issues of significant impact.


The same is true in the context of the issue that we're now dealing with, issue 6.  We have issue 6.1 pertaining to the generalized issue associated with the full schedule of rates, and then sub-issues identified where they have significant impact in issue 6.2 and issue 6.4. 


Just to emphasize, this is not confined to issues of financial impact.  I draw your attention to issue 3.16, which Energy Probe raised as a necessary policy issue to be included in the context of the cost-of-service issues, given the impact and implications of the gas risk management program changes that Energy Probe is applying.


Given the nature of the issues list, I would therefore submit that should LIEN have wanted to raise this significant policy issue with associated significant financial rate impacts, it should have been done so at the time that the issues list was being determined.


My second further nuance is in relation to the settlement agreement.  We find it noteworthy that nowhere in the settlement agreement did the parties agree or state that the agreement is without prejudice to further determination of the financial impact or further consideration of the financial modifications that would be necessary, resulting from the Board's consideration and potential approval of anything included in the LIEN evidence. 


This is very significant for my clients as large electricity generators, who would be likely facing the largest rate impact associated with approval of anything included in the LIEN evidence.  So certainly it would have had bearing and impact on our position in the context of agreeing to the settlement agreement.


With those two further clarifications, those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  We've gone quite long. We will take a break now before we hear LIEN and other parties' submissions, so we will break for 20 minutes.  After we've finished hearing on this motion, we will take our lunch break.  We will break now until 11:20.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
---Upon resuming at 11:27 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  I checked to see if the mikes are working.  They seem to be.

     Mr. Manning or Ms. Abouchar.

     MR. MANNING:  Mr. Manning.  I will speak.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Manning.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MANNING:

     MR. MANNING:  Thank you, Madam Chair, members of the panel.

     It's interesting to hear the number of companies and

their counsel ranged against LIEN's position.  LIEN obviously would say that unpopularity alone should not dictate the outcome of this motion.  And I would like to start off with saying a little bit about why LIEN considers it appropriate to come to a forum such as this and make the arguments that they wish to put forward.

     We have just come through a fairly cold weekend for this time of year and perhaps as we embark on the beginning of summertime, it's a salutary reminder another winter will still come back to haunt us but it won't haunt many people in this room, as it will poor families in Ontario, who either cannot afford to have adequate heating for themselves and their families or who have to make a choice, literally a choice between eating or having appropriate heating.     

So LIEN considers this to be a very urgent and important issue and I wish to set that out at the beginning.  It’s not given as evidence.  It is an idea of why LIEN thinks this is an important, urgent appropriate and principled matter to bring before the Board at this stage.

     In addition to a level of unpopularity, it was interesting to hear the number of submissions that were made before the break on the question of whether this is more appropriate to a generic hearing.  That's very interesting to LIEN, because there was quite a bit of discussion beforehand about whether the matter ought to be appropriate to such a hearing, and LIEN considered

whether its response to motion should ask for such an order.  But the feedback that it had in discussion was that everybody who was suggesting that that is the right way to go, that was the appropriate forum, didn't seem to be prepared to actually commit to supporting it.

     We've heard a good deal today about how appropriate and how more appropriate a generic hearing would be and that is something that I will return to in my closing submissions.

     So LIEN's position on this motion is that it should be

dismissed and I will deal with that, and if, Madam Chair you and the panel are not minded to dismiss the motion, then we suggest it is appropriate and fair that LIEN's issue -- which we have spelt out in the cross-motion -- should be added to the issues list.

     So firstly, LIEN says that in its view, it's always been in its view, the evidence submitted, heard by Roger Colton falls within issue 1 on the issues list.  It is worthwhile just looking back at the chronology of how the issues list was created and how the evidence was submitted, and I can deal with this very briefly.

     The issues conference was held on March 3rd and LIEN says the issues conference dealt principally with issues arising from Union's pre-filed evidence, and the issues day was held on March 8th and was intended to deal with matters which were outstanding, matters which were still in dispute.

     LIEN was quite confident at that point that any issues that it may wish to raise in relation to the matters that concern it would be covered by the very general -- the very general issue 6.1, which I -- it's been read to you already, but I will do that again.  I refer in that regard to the motion record of Union Gas.  I will just read it out.  I don't necessarily need to take you there.  It is tab 5, appendix A.

     So the issue reads:  “Is the full schedule of rates as

proposed in Exhibit H3, tab 2 appropriate?”

     Back to the chronology.  The date which had been specified by procedural order for submission of intervenors' evidence was April 7th.  Mr. Colton's report was submitted in a timely fashion on that date and we'll see that there was virtually a month elapsed between the end of the issues day and the time for filing of intervenor evidence.

     In an ideal world, obviously LIEN would wish to make crystal clear every issue that it has in mind at the appropriate time.  LIEN has fairly recently become involved in Board proceedings and has to work within its constraints of finance and personnel and was proceeding to gather its evidence and formulate its issues as swiftly as possible during the procedural period.

     At the time of the issues day, its issues were not fully fleshed out, and it continued to work assiduously with its consultants and its experts to formulate the evidence which would be put forward.

     The evidence was, as I've said, filed in a timely fashion.  If its issue arising from that evidence is to be disallowed, be struck out by the Board as a result of this motion, then it quite simply means that the deadline for filing, for preparing and filing evidence is substantially eroded by the procedure which has an early issues conference or issues day.

     There was some suggestion from -- I can't remember which of the counsel -- but in some way that LIEN had withheld, held back an issue that it knew was an important issue and sprung it on everybody as a surprise.  There was no such thing.  LIEN, firstly, felt there was a broad issue comprised in 6.1 and ample to cover the issues that it had in mind, and secondly that it was appropriate to file its evidence in a timely way and for the issues to be fleshed out in that manner.

     There is also a suggestion which has been repeated a number of times, that in some way this impugns the procedural fairness to the parties to this hearing.  It is difficult to see how that is.  The parties have had every opportunity to consider the evidence, to raise interrogatories on it.  Some parties have done

so.  Union raised theirs without prejudice to their position in this motion.  But the fact of the matter is that there has been ample time to explore and debate and, indeed, in this motion to explore and debate the appropriateness of the issue to be added, and LIEN respectfully submits by acting in a timely fashion, preparing and submitting its evidence within the time limits specified by the Board, was, in the circumstances, sufficient for this purpose.

     The point has been made that LIEN was represented at the issues conference and the issues day.  That is entirely correct.  It is worthwhile taking a moment to just consider what LIEN's representative in that hearing had to say, and that was Dr. Malcolm Jackson, as has been mentioned by counsel for one of the intervenors.

     In that connection, I would refer the Board to page 40 of the transcript for issues day.  The transcript is referenced in the motion record, but I'm not entirely clear if, Madam Chair, you and the panel have copies available.

     MS. NOWINA:  We do.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.


So at page 40 of the transcript, lines 18 onwards, Dr. Jackson suggests as follows:

"It might be helpful to you when you are deliberating to just identify what appear to be very general issues set out under the other various headings."


And then Dr. Jackson goes through the various issues and suggests that in each one there is a general umbrella issue and that the specific issues fall within that, but there is quite simply a general matter to be considered by each.


I will take you, if I may, to the following page where ‑‑ this is lines 25 and 26 -- he adds:

"Just lastly, when I was giving you references under 6, rate design under 6.1 is the general question there."  


So Dr. Jackson's view and his expressed view on the conference day was that these were general issues, and LIEN took the view that they were sufficient to encompass those issues that it wished to raise, and LIEN proceeded accordingly.


So LIEN's first and simple point is that the matter falls ‑‑ their issue falls within issue 6.1 in the issues list as it stands, that it spoke up to say exactly that, or at least it regarded the issues as general headings with a wide ambit, spoke up at the issues day in support of that.  It submitted its evidence in a timely fashion, and that the evidence relating to issue 6.1 falls within the issue list and should be heard and not be struck out.


Insofar -- Madam Chair, members of the Panel, insofar as you may not be in agreement with that viewpoint, LIEN has brought a cross-motion which says, Well, if it doesn't fall within 6.1, and we thought it did, but if doesn't fall within 6.1, it is really an appropriate matter to be heard.  


We've already said that LIEN's view is more than just it is an appropriate matter to be heard.  It is an urgent matter, of great importance as the next winter approaches, not a matter that can be put, if you will pardon the pun, on the back burner for any length of time.  And with that in mind, LIEN has outlined in its cross-motion the issue that it thinks should be added to the list if it is considered that it does not already fall within issue 6.1, and I will just put that in front of me.


This is in the response to motion and cross-motion, which is in tab 1 of LIEN's motion record.  It is on page 2.  LIEN is suggesting that under Rule 30.04 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure under the Energy Board Act, the following should be added as ‑‑ to the issues list, which was appended to Procedural Order No. 3.  It reads as follows:

"(a) Should the residential rate schedules for Union Gas include a rate affordability assistance program for low‑income consumers?; if so, (b) how should such a program be funded?; (c) how should eligibility criteria be determined?; (d) how should levels of assistance be determined?"


I would like to turn now to a suggestion in Union's motion that the evidence of Mr. Colton is lacking because it is not specific to Union and that interrogatories, LIEN have responded that it was developed and prepared to be appropriate to more than one proceeding.  Well, firstly, there is simply no logical reason why one piece of evidence could not be appropriate to more than one proceeding.  LIEN would suggest that it's self‑evidently appropriate to this proceeding and the issues that it has outlined, but also, again, turning to the transcript of issues day, this is something that has been done in connection with Union's own evidence.


Here, Madam Chair, members of the Panel, I would like to refer you to page 13 of the transcript of issues day, and this submission are some comments by Mr. Smith there.  That's lines 8 onwards.  Do you have that?


MS. NOWINA:  We do.  


MR. MANNING:  Mr. Smith says this at that point:

"There is evidence in Union's application which was compiled prior to the Board's procedural order which directed the DSM generic hearing.  There is evidence in Union's application in this case which relates to that issue.  It is not Union's intention, nor do I think it would usefully serve anybody's interest, to strip out of its evidence relating to DSM, although DSM is going to be dealt with in the generic hearing."


It was Union's intention, having regard -- further down to lines 21, 22:

"It was Union's intention, having regard to the generic hearings, that it would have this proceeding.  It will receive a decision from the Board."


The point there, Madam Chair, is quite simply that Union itself has held out and allowed its evidence to be appropriate to more than one hearing.  I appreciate that it has arisen in the context of how this hearing, this proceeding, has developed and how the process for the generic DSM hearing has also developed. But the fact of the matter is that, as a matter of practice and as a matter of logic, there is no reason why their evidence and, therefore, Mr. Colton's evidence should not be directly appropriate to this proceeding, notwithstanding that it may have relevance to other matters.


I just want to return for a moment to this idea of the appropriate forum.  LIEN says there is no alternative forum at present for it to be heard on this matter, and to strike out its evidence and to deny it the opportunity to be heard in this proceeding will deprive it of procedural fairness in contravention of the rules of natural justice.


A lot of people have spoken up today about the advantages and how appropriate a generic hearing would be.  If LIEN had received that assurance and there had been some suggestion as part of the settlement that there might be a joint application to the Board supporting a generic hearing, then that may have been something that we could have dealt with.


If it is the case today, Madam Chair, that the parties who appear enthusiastic about a generic hearing are prepared to join with LIEN in an application to the Board, then that may be a different matter.  But all LIEN has received so far are vague intimations that there may be a more appropriate forum; no commitments to support an application to the Board for a generic hearing.  And, frankly, LIEN has been left with the firm impression that if it had applied for a generic hearing today, that first it would not be supported, and there was a grave risk that there would be some fine words which said, Well, in negotiation with Board Staff or in negotiation with the parties, it may be agreed that there should, in the fullness of time, be a generic hearing.


As I said at the outset of these submissions, this is an urgent matter, a crucial matter to poor people as the next winter and subsequent winters approach.  LIEN doesn't want to find that it falls in the cracks in the middle of peoples fine words about generic hearings and its own wish and LIEN would submit, its right to be heard on this issue in this hearing if there is

nothing concrete and prospect.

     So I leave that point with an invitation to other parties that, if there is a genuine and collective enthusiasm for a generic hearing, that that is something that should be dealt with definitively now, and LIEN would be happy to embark on a, hopefully a swift discussion of that which would hopefully assist the Board in allowing LIEN's issue and all other parties to be heard in a timely and appropriate manner without depriving LIEN of the opportunity to do so in an appropriate forum, and

without impugning the problems and difficulties that my friends have raised in their submissions today.    

If I may turn now, Madam Chair, to LIEN's view of the legal issues that are involved.  I hope that you have before you the book of authorities that we filed.

     MS. NOWINA:  We do.  We should mark it as an exhibit.

     MR. MILLAR:  M1.5.

     EXHIBIT NO. M1.5:   Book of authorities of LIEN

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Manning.

     MR. MANNING:  So firstly I would turn to tab 4.  Briefly the section that everyone in this room will know, 36.2: 

“The Board may make orders approving or fixing 

just and reasonable rates for the sale of gas by gas transmitters, distributors, storage companies and for the transmission, distribution and storage of gas.”     

36.3:  

“In approving or fixing just and reasonable rates, the Board may adopt any method or technique that it considers appropriate.”

     In section 2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, again a matter that everybody in this room knows but I will read it:  

“The Board in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other act in relation to gas shall be guided by the following objectives.” 

Objective number 2 is:  

“To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service.”

     I would like to just take a moment, looking at a little bit of case law and a little bit of interpretation to do with the question of what is just and reasonable.  Of course the majority of the jurisprudence tells us that it is a balancing exercise between the right of the utility to make a fair return and the right of the consumers not to be overcharged.  So I am not going to rehearse all of that or indeed any more of that.

     I would like to, however, consider precisely what "just and reasonable" should mean in the context of poor families.  Because it is very easy to get -- to reduce the words "just and reasonable" -- excuse me -- to a mere cipher.  Just and reasonable, we know what that means.  We've seen it in all of the cases it's simply a balancing exercise and what this exercise really does is work out what the utility is asking for and seeing if that is

an appropriate rate.

     But the words “just and reasonable” have been chosen very specifically and I am going to dwell a little bit on that.  So if I may take you next to the case in tab 3 of the book of authorities, this is Union Gas Limited versus Ontario Energy Board back in 1983.  It concerned a similar provision under the, then, Ontario Energy Board Act (1980).

     If I may take you, first of all, to page 6 of that case report, paragraph 32: 

“The phrases just and reasonable or fair and reasonable rate base and used or useful have been employed to describe the principles and methodology to be used by public utility boards and commissions in fixing public utility rates in

the United States and Canada for many years, 

(see, for example, Northwestern Utilities Limited v. City of Edmonton, 1929.    

Per Lamonts, J., the duty of the board was to fix fair and reasonable rates, rates which under the circumstances would be fair to the consumer on the one hand and which on the other hand would secure to the company a fair return for the capital invested.  By a fair return is meant the company will be allowed to retain as

large a return on the capital invested in its enterprise which will be net to the company as it would receive if investing the same amount in other securities possessing an attractiveness,

stability, and certainty to that of the company's enterprise.”  

     Then, if I may, I will take you to page 10 of the same

report.  The judgment continues in paragraph 41:   

“A general background in considering the ratemaking function performed by the OEB, it is useful to consider a quotation from Principles of

Public Utility Regulation by A.G.J. Priest.  The learned author quotes a speaker on this subject in the following terms:  In the United States, private enterprise operates a larger share of these vital industries than almost any other country because of our balanced system of regulation by public authority.  The system is

designed to protect consumers against exploitation where competition is inherently unavailable or inadequate and to ensure

that these industries will serve the public interest.  At the same time, it provides these companies necessary assurance of an opportunity

to earn a reasonable return on their investment and to attract capital for expansion.  

Put another way, it is the function of

the OEB to balance the interest of the appellant in earning the highest possible return on the operation of its enterprise, a monopoly, with the conflicting interest of its customers to be

served as cheaply as possible.”

     We still haven't been told -- and I was in some difficulty finding any case law which specifically tells us what the words "just and reasonable" mean or what just and reasonable might mean as between different rate classes.

     The idea that Union Gas might make a fair return out of supplying gas under the privilege of its monopoly to a major consumer such as Enbridge, is surely a different balance from supplying gas pursuant to its monopoly to poor families who may not be able to afford to heat their homes through the winter or feed their families because of the high cost of gas.

     The balancing exercise is one that is continually

undertaken, I would suggest, by the Board and that is something that I will return to in just a moment.

     Before I do, if I could take you then to the last tab 5 of book of authorities.  In the absence of helpful jurisprudence on the subject, I have looked to the dictionary.  The dictionary isn't a legal definition, but it does give us a sense of the word.  As I say, it's a problem that we may fall into the trap of thinking of the words just and reasonable in this section as a mere cipher for balance, and forget what the words actually mean.

     So we have the Concise Oxford Dictionary of Current English, and on the one substantive page in the right hand column the definition of "just" which speaks of “acting or done in accordance with what is morally right or fair.  Of treatment, et cetera, deserved as in a just reward.”  And then other definitions.  I'm not going to run through the whole thing.  It means just, and it has completely different meanings of barely, nearly or nearly.


"Acting or done in accordance with what is morally right or fair."  It is odd to find that in a statute, and it is important not to forget that there is a moral element in making this judgment.


Having said that, I appreciate that the Board does not want to have to intervene in individual cases and it doesn't want to lose the fairness of having a principled rate-making procedure, but the Board has found itself capable of dealing with issues of policy on frequent occasions, and it has found itself able to distinguish between different classes of ratepayer.  And I am reminded in that regard of the report produced by Navigant Consulting as part of ‑‑ I don't need to take you to it, but Exhibit H2 of Union's pre-filed evidence, which is a review of the cost allocation of rate design of the M2 rate class.  It was an independent review to examine the appropriateness of Union's current rate design for the M2 rate class, and to determine whether or not there is justification for splitting the rate class.


It's perfectly possible to split a rate class.  It is perfectly possible to make an issue of policy and principle, if the application of the test of what is just and fair so demands. And LIEN, quite clearly, say that there is an identifiable segment of Union's customer base which ‑‑ do forgive me a moment, Madam Chair ‑‑ to which the balancing exercise produces a different result than the balancing exercise between, say, Union and its acknowledged biggest customer, Enbridge, which can and should result in the issue put forward by LIEN having a fair hearing during this proceeding, subject to the comments I have made before about the appropriateness and availability of a generic proceeding.


I want to turn to the decision and order which Mr. Smith referred you to, which is the decision with reasons of May 19th, 2005 in its own application for the M16 rate schedule and take you to the same paragraph that he read to you on page 5.


Just looking at the last two lines of that penultimate paragraph:

"A departure from these principles should only be undertaken where the evidence and all other circumstances outweigh the inherent virtue of an objective process."  


Firstly, we say that the identification of the poor, in the way proposed by LIEN in this hearing, is an objective process consistent with what the Board has done elsewhere, in any event.


Secondly, we say, also, that the opportunity for LIEN's evidence to be considered is a prerequisite for what is said at the end of this paragraph by the Board.  This isn't a case where the evidence has been heard and weighed and rejected.  It is a case where the evidence is in play, and LIEN would, by this motion, if the motion is successful, be denied that opportunity.


That is different, in type and kind, from the decision in this matter.  It is also different in degree, and maybe degree to an extent that does make a difference in type and kind, by the nature of the customer.  I don't think that anyone is supposing that Tribute, in making its application in that matter, for rate storage for ‑‑ for rates relating to storage issues, is in the same position as a poor family unable to pay its heating bills through the winter.


If the Board is minded to reject this motion or to allow LIEN's cross-motion, then Mr. Colton is interested in various pieces of information from Union Gas and, with that in mind, has raised his own series of interrogatories.  No question they come late in the day.  They come late in the day consistent with the fact that LIEN aimed for and hit its target date of submitting its evidence, but a month after the issues day took place.  


In working to come up to speed, Mr. Colton has produced his own set of interrogatories and we would respectfully request ‑ notwithstanding it does come late in the day, but if LIEN are allowed to proceed and participate in this hearing - that Union should be asked to reply to those interrogatories.


So I come to the conclusion, which is very simple.  LIEN says, quite simply, Mr. Colton's evidence falls within issue 6.1. Issue 6.1 is a broad issue.  Dr. Jackson said specifically on issues day 6.1 is a broad issue.  LIEN prepared and submitted its evidence in accordance with the time scale provided in the Board's procedural order.  The issues conference and the issues day principally revolved around Union's pre-filed evidence and a debate about the issues raised in that.  


Of course, ideally, if LIEN had been in a position to do so and there had been a more detailed debate on conference day and/or issues day, that would have been a great thing.  But in complying with the Board's procedural order for filing of its evidence and preparing it in accordance with that time scale, LIEN did the best it could in the circumstances.


It therefore submits that Mr. Colton's evidence does fall within issue 6.1.  Insofar as that argument is not correct or not accepted, it respectfully requests that the issues outlined in its cross-motion should be added to the issues list; that the parties have had ample time now to consider it, ample time to raise interrogatories.  Judging by this crowded room, most every party who might have any interest in the question is represented and capable of being represented, and there is no reason why this should not be an issue which carries forward into the hearing.


For that reason, additionally, Mr. Colton's evidence would be appropriate to that and should be allowed in this hearing, should not be struck out.


Finally, we say that the proper -‑ that the Board has wide jurisdiction in the matters it will consider and the methodology it will bring to rate setting, limited only by the statutory purposes in section 2 of the Act and also to the pre-eminent test of what is just and reasonable.  


The balancing exercise, so far as the poor is concerned, is a different one from that which applies to the Enbridge ‑‑ Enbridges of this world. It is an important thing that there is consistency in the Board's methodology, but the Board is not incapable of dividing up rate classes, where it is appropriate, and LIEN respectfully submits that it is appropriate here. 

Union's franchise is a privilege to it, as all the other utilities have a privilege in serving the community of Ontario. And we should not allow Union's franchise to disenfranchise the poor in this matter.  We respectfully ask that Mr. Colton's evidence be allowed to remain, and that LIEN's -- accordingly.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.

     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Manning, I would like to clarify.  In terms of the interrogatories that Mr. Colton may submit on behalf of LIEN, those interrogatories would be submitted if the motion is granted.  Is that correct?  Or would they be submitted in any case?

     MR. MANNING:  We would submit them in any case, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  You are letting us know there are further interrogatories --

     MR. MANNING:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  -- to come?  Thank you.  Are there any parties who wish to make submissions in support of LIEN's position? 

Mr. Manning.

     MR. MANNING:  Do forgive me, Madam Chair.  

Ms. Abouchar is reminding me they have already been submitted.  I think they have come to Mr. Smith.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

     Parties in support of LIEN's submission?  None.  

Mr. Smith.

     REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITH:

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  By way of brief reply, let me start with my friend's reference to the M2 rate class, and to pick up on a submission made by Mr. Warren.

     Mr. Manning referred to the fact that the Board is perfectly capable of making a decision to split a particular rate class.  Of course, as the Board will know, Union's proposal with respect to the rate class is in response to a specific directive by the Board.  Further, that the proposal by Navigant and Union is based

upon traditional cost-allocation methodologies.  So to use Mr. Warren's terminology, it's a difference of - how did he put it – degree, not kind.

     Secondly, with respect to the M2 rate class, that is a

specific issue on the issues list, that was put there on issues day.  In fact it was confirmed on issues day by this Board.  So to the extent my friend draws a parallel with the M2 rate class, I would draw the same parallel and repeat my argument earlier, it is something that could have certainly been brought to the Board's attention at issues day and ought to have -- LIEN ought to have done so.

     You have my submissions with respect to the scope of issue 6.1 and I don't intend to repeat those, other than to say that I don't think anybody could reasonably interpret Mr. Jackson's comment as having what has been proposed in mind.

     Secondly, my friend spent some time reviewing just and

reasonable and what those words mean.  In my submission, that submission entirely misses the point.  It is a submission on the merits as to whether or not a rate affordability program ought to be imposed by the government, or by the Board.  It is not a response to the position of Union Gas on its motion, which is that the matters not covered on the issues list and is generic in

nature.  So with respect, I see no comfort in those authorities to my friend's position.

     Thirdly, with reference to the comment about discussions that may have ensued between the parties relating to whether or not there ought to be a generic hearing, I would say two things.  Of course, without getting into it too much, any discussions that may have taken place at a settlement conference of course would

be without prejudice and should not be referenced.  But more to the point, it is for this Board to determine whether or not a generic proceeding is appropriate and not for the parties to impose such proceeding on the Board.

     In Union's submission, if this evidence is to be heard, it ought to be heard in a generic proceeding because it's generic in nature.  But it is LIEN's job, and it is incumbent upon them to satisfy the Board that the matter is of such significance that the Board ought to hear it, regardless of any parties' particular view.  Of course there is a difference between a party expressing an interest in having a matter heard generically and a party

agreeing that the relief sought is appropriate in any event.

     Fourthly, my friend referred to the point that one piece of evidence might be appropriate for more than one hearing.  That of course is true, and of course my friend took you to the comments I had made at issues day.  In my view, they're not at all applicable or opposite to the instance here because they're two Union Gas or Union Gas's evidence which will be used in the DSM proceeding and later incorporated into a rate order arising from this proceeding.  That is purely a result of the way matters

unfolded procedurally.

     The point with respect to the evidence being received in more than one proceeding or LIEN's evidence in more than one proceeding is it highlights the generic nature of it, and there is no dispute, as my friend I believe agreed, that this evidence and the proposal is, in LIEN's view, appropriate for ratepayers all across Ontario, of all different utilities.    

So in my submission, the motion should be granted.  LIEN's cross-motion ought to be dismissed for the reasons I earlier enumerated.  I would say this, with respect to the interrogatories.  My friend served these last week.  They are substantial.  There are 11 pages of additional interrogatories, over 50 questions.

     It is not possible, in my submission, to answer these

questions in the time allocated, but more to the point, no

explanation has been given, at all, as to why these

interrogatories are being submitted by Mr. Colton at this time.  Absolutely no explanation provided.  And I would say on this point, Mr. Colton prepared his evidence, with my friends now say is more than sufficient on which this Board can grant the relief sought, without the benefit of the answers to these questions.  So I don't understand how my friend can have it both ways to say we need these answers in order to obtain the relief we're seeking answer by the way, the record is more than sufficient to ground the relief.  

So in my submission regardless of the position that the Board takes on the motion, Union should not be required to answer what, in my submission is a completely unjustifiable departure from the procedural order.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  That ends the hearing of the motion.  We will now break for lunch and resume at 1:30.  It is our hope that we will be able to have a decision at that point on the settlement and the motions.  Even if we do not, I don't see any reason why we cannot proceed with the risk management panel at 1:30 or 1:45.  We are now adjourned until 1:30.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 1:30 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


The Panel is prepared to make its decision ‑‑ give you our decision on both items.  We're going to speak to the motion first, because of Ms. DeMarco's point that the motion might affect the settlement, so we will give you a decision on the settlement second.


DECISION

Regarding the motion, the Board grants Union's motion to strike the evidence of Roger Colton and denies the cross-motion of LIEN.  The Board agrees that either including the evidence of Mr. Colton under issue 6.1 or adding LIEN's new issues would cause significant procedural problems.


The Board is concerned that the issues were not clearly identified earlier.


However, this is not an absolute bar to the consideration of the issue in the proceeding, per se.  Of greater concern is the generic nature of the evidence and its applicability to a very broad range of stakeholders.


The evidence clearly raises policy questions.  An issue of this importance demands an appropriate forum.  It is not clear at this time what that forum should be, but Board Staff will develop a generic approach to the appropriate forum and timing for the Board's consideration of this important issue.


In light of this, the Panel assumes that the additional enquiries that Mr. Manning referred to this morning are no longer needed.


Regarding the settlement, I want to personally say that the Board really appreciates the efforts of all parties to come to such a significant settlement and we accept the settlement agreement as filed.  


Do you have any questions for me or are there any matters before we begin with the risk management panel?


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, there is one quick matter.  Mr. Penny had referred this morning to Union attempting to prepare schedules which would reflect the settlement agreement, if it were approved by the Board.  In fact, over the break we were able to finalize that.


What we are passing out and what is available to the parties is a selection of the schedules which would have been found at Exhibit H3, tab 1.  They are not, I should caution, all of those schedules, but those which Union thought people would have most interest in, as soon as possible.  Of course, a full schedule will be prepared, but in an effort to provide as much information to people as possible, Union has prepared this package.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, would you like that to have an exhibit number?


MS. NOWINA:  It does have an exhibit number, so I assume it is replacement of Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1, is that correct, or is it a new exhibit?


MR. SMITH:  It should be a new exhibit.


MS. NOWINA:  It should be a new exhibit, all right.


MR. MILLAR:  M1.6.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.6:  SCHEDULES AT EXHIBIT H3, TAB 1.

 MR. PENNY:  Madam Chair, my responsibilities for the day are done.  Mr. Crawford ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  You had an easy day of it, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  But it was a high stress day.


[Laughter]


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Smith is looking after the risk management panel and, with your leave, I will take mine.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Penny.


MR. MANNING:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Penny leaves us, if I could ask for one point of clarification on the decision that you just made?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  I inferred from what you were saying that although LIEN's evidence is struck for this particular hearing, you were saying it did not prevent questions being raised presumably in cross‑examination in the hearing on that area?


MS. NOWINA:  No.  I think it was the opposite, Mr. Manning, that we didn't expect questions to be raised on this issue in this hearing.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I misheard you.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any other questions?


MR. SMITH:  There being no further matters, Madam Chair, I would like to call Mr. David Simpson and Ms. Patti Piette of Union Gas to be sworn.


MS. NOWINA:  We will do that, Mr. Smith. 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Quesnelle will swear the witnesses.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


UNION GAS - PANEL 1:

David Simpson; Sworn.


Patti Piette; Sworn.

MS. NOWINA:  Before you begin, I want to check in with Mr. Crockford, who I believe is still on the line.  Mr. Crockford, are you still on the line?


MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crockford, do you wish to remain on the line for the remainder of the day?


MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes, I might as well.


MS. NOWINA:  But I understand that you will not be making submissions or asking questions of the witnesses?


MR. CROCKFORD:  No.  That's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Crockford, while I'm speaking to you, do you wish to be on the line again on Thursday when we continue with the proceeding?


MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We'll make sure that that happens.  Thank you.


Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just one additional matter.  I have been advised by my friend, Ms. DeMarco, that she has a package of materials for use in cross‑examination on behalf of her client, Superior Energy Management, that she was hoping to have it marked as an exhibit.


MS. NOWINA:  We can do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that will be M1.7.  I think I have the copies here.  While it has been mentioned, Board Staff had actually planned to file the case as an exhibit, as well.  I see it is already in Ms. DeMarco's materials, so although I provided it to my friends, Mr. Smith and Mr. Penny, on Friday, I won't be providing it separately.  This is M1.7.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.7:  BOOK OF DOCUMENTS OF SUPERIOR 
ENERGY MANAGEMENT.

MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  Energy Probe has prepared a book of documents that is almost identical.  It's slightly different.  It might be convenient to actually circulate it now, since we are kind of in the process of doing that.  If I could ask for an exhibit number, then it would prevent us from having to do it again.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Adams, let's get it out.  M1.8.


MR. MILLAR:  M1.8, that's correct, Madam Chair.  Mr. Adams, do you have it now?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.8:  BOOK OF DOCUMENTS FROM ENERGY 
PROBLE.

MR. SMITH:  If I may, Madam Chair, just while these materials are being distributed, I have no objection to the materials that have been provided by my friend, Ms. DeMarco, nor do I have any position with respect to the case that Mr. Millar provided.  I expect I won't have any issue with Mr. Adams.  But I would say that my understanding is, in any event, that the packages, to the extent possible, that will be submitted for cross‑examination should be done -- that package should be done in advance of the day on which the witness is called.


Here I believe we have largely a package of materials that is otherwise in the record, and for that reason the witnesses are perfectly prepared to answer questions in respect of it.  But I would ask that if people intend to put to Union's rate design witnesses materials that are not in the record, then I would invite them to provide me with copies tomorrow, if at all possible.


MS. NOWINA:  You're absolutely right, Mr. Smith.  I would encourage everyone to do that.  It is only fair to the witnesses.  Mr. Smith, if there is anything in these exhibits that you're not comfortable with your panel answering questions to, by all means let us know your concerns.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I could jump in for a second, just to the nature of our package of materials, it is more to appease the whims of OCD tendencies, not wanting to flip binders.  It is virtually actually all matters within the evidence, just packaged up into one.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, if you look at the index of ours, you will find it is for the same purpose, just for the convenience of the witnesses.  I think all of the material has been circulated previously.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Smith, do you want to introduce your panel.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Simpson, I understand that you are the director of acquisitions of Union Gas Limited?


MR. SIMPSON:  That’s correct.    

MR. SMITH:  And in that capacity, your responsibilities for the procurement of Union's gas supply, including oversight of implementation of Union's risk management programs; is that correct? 

     MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct as well. 

     MR. SMITH:  I understand you have a bachelor of engineering sciences from the Union of Western Ontario. 

     MR. SMITH:  I do. 

     MR. SMITH:  You obtained that bachelor in 1987?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  You have been with Union Gas since you 

graduated?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Correct, 1987. 

     MR. SMITH:  You have held a number of positions with Union Gas including the manager of gas supply, the manager of asset acquisition, and a manager of industrial market planning; is that correct?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have appeared before this Board on at least eight separate occasions?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I have.  

     MR. SMITH:  Most recently in EB-2005-0473; is that 

correct?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct.       

MR. SMITH:  I understand that your evidence is located at D1, tab 1. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Can you confirm that you -- that that evidence was prepared by you or under your supervision?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. SMITH:  And to the extent that you or your group 

responded to interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence, was that done under your supervision or by you?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of your testimony today?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I do.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  

     Ms. Piette, I understand that you are the manager of gas supply for Union Gas Limited?  

     MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  You are responsible for the procurement of 

Union's gas supply including assisting with its risk management activities; is that correct?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have an honours in business administration if from the Union of Western Ontario. 

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  You also have a masters of business 

administration from the Union of Western Ontario. 

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.       

MR. SMITH:  I understand you have been with Union since 1984?  

     MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  You have held a number of positions at Union Gas, including manager of integration planning; manager of retail services, and manager of marketing research; is that correct? 

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  You have testified before this Board on three separate occasions?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And the evidence at D1, tab 1, was that 

prepared by you or under your supervision?

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And to the extent there are interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence, equally was that -- were they prepared or answers prepared by you or under your supervision?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence for purposes of your testimony today?  

     MS. PIETTE:  I do.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  

Madam Chair, if I may I have a few short questions for Mr. Simpson.  I will be brief.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Smith. 


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Simpson, I would like to review certain background information with you, if I may.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly.  

     MR. SMITH:  Am I correct that as part of a settlement 

agreement in RP-2001-0029, Union agreed to engage an 

independent consultant to conduct an assessment of its 

risk-management activities. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  And did Union retain such an expert?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, we did.  

     MR. SMITH:  Who was that?

     MR. SIMPSON:  The company's name is Risk Management 

Incorporated, commonly referred to as RMI. 

     MR. SMITH:  And was the work performed by RMI the subject of a written report?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that RMI commented on Union's risk management plan and made certain recommendations in respect of it?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, they did.  

     MR. SMITH:  Were those recommendations largely adopted by Union?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, they were.  

     MR. SMITH:  And the work performed by RMI in Union's 

position in respect of that work, was that reviewed in 

Union's last rate case?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  In the 0063 case.  

     MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that a number of parties 

including parties here today, had an opportunity to 

cross-examine in respect of that evidence and the report done by RMI?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Am I correct that Union representatives were present as well a representative from RMI. 

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And in the result, I think we will come to this in cross-examination, but in the result, am I correct that the Board approved Union's risk-management program and its adoption of certain of RMI's suggestions?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, they did.  

     MR. SMITH:  And the Union Gas risk management program filed in this proceeding, which I believe is at D1, tab 1, appendix A, is that a proposal that which was approved by the Board in the 0063 case?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  That document is effectively the result of the hearing, the approval and the changes agreed to upon RMI's recommendations. 

     MR. SMITH:  And in this proceeding, is Union seeking any changes with respect to its risk management program?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  No, we are not.  

     MR. SMITH:  And can you describe for me how what is referred to in your evidence as the 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan, fits within Union's risk management program.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  A fixed-price purchase is already a tool 

within the approved policy and plan, so we are simply seeking Board approval prior to implementing that.  

     MR. SMITH:  There being no other matters, Madam Chair, I would tender Mr. Simpson and Ms. Piette for 

cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Let me first ask if there are any intervenors who would like to examine this panel who are in support of the company's position, which I take to be no changes to the risk management, the current risk-management processes.  

     MR. WARREN:  I think directionally we probably are, Madam Chair.  In addition, which I have I think a sum total of five questions. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Warren, I think that makes you go first.  Anyone else who is in that position?  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I have four questions. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro.  And it's taking the same 

position as the company?  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  At this point, yes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  

Mr. Warren.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Panel, with respect to your evidence, I have only a few questions.  The first is this.  Ms. DeMarco has, in her materials, which have been marked as Exhibit M1.7, included at tab 4B an extract from the decision of the Board in the last Enbridge main rates case, 

EB2005-0001.  If you could turn to that and turn to page 30 of the decision, and, in particular,  paragraph 5.510.  Do you have it, panel?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Could you advise me, panel, of whether -- or to what extent there are any differences in the position of Union today, as opposed to the position that Enbridge was in as reflected in that particular paragraph.  

     My particular point of reference, panel, is the third full sentence in that paragraph which reads:  

“No evidence has been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity had a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers, given the effects of QRAM, PGVA and equal billing programs over the same period.” 

     Are you in the same position as Enbridge, as reflected in that sentence?  Or different?  And if you are in a different position, how are you?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  In just trying to reflect on that particular comment, one very distinguishable difference is, as was referred to earlier, our program has been approved in the 0063 case.  Volatility, per se, was examined in that case and Union's program was deemed to have represented reasonable value prior to getting approval.  

     MR. WARREN:  Has your hedging activity had a material effect on volatility, and if so, how?  

     MS. PIETTE:  We measure our volatility against the monthly prices on NIMEX.  And our program has reduced volatility over the last eight years by 39 percent.  

     MR. WARREN:  My second question, broadly speaking, on these or this program, risk-management program.  It would be helpful, to me at least, if you could join issue with Mr. Adams, who has provided evidence in this case, and if you could detail, as briefly as you can, where you disagree with Mr. Adams.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Can you be a little bit more specific, in terms of -- 

     MR. WARREN:  Let me ask you the question.  Do you disagree with Mr. Adams?  I hope the answer is, yes.  Otherwise...

     MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly we disagree with what I think is the premise of Mr. Adams' evidence.  I just didn't want to suggest that I can speak on behalf of his evidence.  

     But at a high level, I think Mr. Adams is suggesting that, in his opinion, the market i.e, our Union's sales service customers, would be best served by Union adopting an approach that largely reflects a spot gas pass-through of costs.  That would mean that risk management doesn't have an impact or a favourable impact, is expensive to operate, has many other negative effects in his view, and that utility and customers would be best served by more pass-through or spot gas pass-through model.  And I do completely disagree with that position.  

    
MR. WARREN:  Well, perhaps you can join issue on this.  Mr. Adams lays out a number of points in which he believes it has an adverse impact on ratepayers.


I take it you disagree with that; is that right?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Why do you disagree with that?


MR. SIMPSON:  I disagree, in principle, because I think risk management has, in fact, a positive impact for customers.


Union has been doing risk management since the '90s; has reviewed the program in thorough detail in the last case and received approval, and really isn't making any changes.  So that, in effect, there is carryover of the benefits from that case, and, to Ms. Piette's point, volatility has continued to be reduced relative to our market benchmark.


MR. WARREN:  Could I turn, panel, then, to the 24‑month fixed cost purchase plan?


Again, Ms. DeMarco has helpfully referred to in her material two interrogatories responses that I would like to refer you to.  They appear at tab 3A of her materials.


The first is Exhibit J1.58, which is a response to an interrogatory from Board Staff.


The second, if you could just turn it up and perhaps keep your finger on it, is J18.02, which is an interrogatory response to a question from Ontario Energy Savings LP.


Perhaps I can approach those two interrogatory responses in conjunction with a response you gave to your counsel in‑chief a few moments ago.


Am I correct in understanding that the 24‑month fixed cost purchase plan is now, in effect, in existence within your risk management program?  Have I understood that correctly?


MR. SIMPSON:  To be very specific, within the risk management program, one of the tools that we have at our disposal is a purchase of fixed-price gas or financial swaps amongst other financial hedges, like callers and call spreads and types of tools that are used in a risk management program.  So we have listed those tools within the policy and the program.


To your point, then, the 24‑month purchase plan is effectively utilizing one of those tools.


MR. WARREN:  So it is using tools within a risk management plan which you've been at some pains to tell us has already been approved by the Board in the last case.


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Why then do you feel you need additional approval from the Board in this case?


MR. SIMPSON:  The premise for the pre-approval is effectively drawn from the Board's findings and positions within the Natural Gas Forum, where there was encouragement in that decision for LDCs like ourselves to seek prior approval before entering into longer-term transport arrangements or molecule arrangements.


We really felt that this fit perfectly with that request and, as such, have entered our evidence to seek that prior approval.


MR. WARREN:  Just one last question.  Was the Board's approval of the overall risk management plan, in your view, not sufficient to allow you to go ahead with the 24-month fixed cost purchase plan?  You needed something else as a result of the observation in the Natural Gas Forum; is that right?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  I really think it's recognizing, of course, that the 0063 decision was before the Natural Gas Forum.  So the plan was approved.  The tools were in place.  The Forum, I think, helped for us at least clarify the expectations of the Board, and we applied the two together to bring our case forward to today.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, I apologize.  One last question.  Did the Natural Gas Forum -- or was an issue in the Natural Gas Forum the specific question of whether the approval of the overall risk management plan was sufficient to allow you to carry forward with the 24‑month fixed cost purchase plan?


MR. SIMPSON:  We might be missing each other, but the Natural Gas Forum dealt at a higher level with respect to commitments made by the utility on behalf of ratepayers, one of which is fixed price purchases.


MR. WARREN:  You have answered my question.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Buonaguro.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  My first two questions are numbers questions, first, I have to check, and, second, I am going to ask for comparative figures.  My first question is this:  Based on the rates in the April 1st, 2006 approved QRAM rate order, it appears that a typical residential system gas customer in Union's southern operations area consuming 2,600 metres cubed per year would face a total bill for delivered gas of approximately $1,341.69 per year, of which $1,002.53 or 74.7 percent represents gas supply charges, which includes commodity plus upstream transportation.


I just wanted you to confirm that, if you could.  It doesn't have to be this second.


The second part of that is we would like you to provide a comparative figure for 1999 and for 2002.


MR. SIMPSON:  Maybe I can deal with those in two parts.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you deal with them now, Mr. Simpson, or would you wish to do an undertaking on that?


MR. SIMPSON:  Maybe I will speak with the first directionally, and if more than directionally is important, we should take an undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. SIMPSON:  I really heard quite clearly kind of a 74 percent commodity and transport, and 24 percent delivery charge.  Those tend to kind of reflect my understanding of the split between the two.  Whether it's exactly that, I would say it is probably reflective.


As for 1999 and 2002, if it was helpful, we would have to take an undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  Would you like an undertaking, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.


MR. SMITH:  Before we grant the undertaking, I suppose if we can do it and it is appropriate, we ought to, but I query the relevance of information dating back to 1999 and 2002.


MS. NOWINA:  Your response to that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, what we would like is to be able to compare the relative percentage of system gas charge to a customer as it has progressed over time.  And essentially what we expect to find is that in the past, I guess that would be seven years, the portion of the bill which is system gas, which is the subject of risk management, has increased overall with respect -- in connection with the gas bill.  


We just want to ‑‑ we don't have the numbers to compare that.  We think that is what is going to happen, is you're going to find there is an increase, but we wanted to confirm that with those numbers.


MR. SMITH:  Again, that's satisfactory, and I understand that information is available to us, so we will take the undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's get an undertaking number.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that will be undertaking U1.1, "U" standing for undertaking, and that was to provide figures for 1999 and 2002 - please somebody correct me if I am wrong ‑ for Union's gas supply charge for a typical residential customer. Thank you.  


UNDERTAKING NO. U1.1:  FIGURES FOR 1999 AND 2002 FOR 
UNION'S GAS SUPPLY CHARGE FOR A TYPICAL RESIDENCE 
CUSTOMER.

MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, 1999 and 2002, or 1999 to 2002?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just 1999 and 2002.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  For clarification, Madam Chair, I heard Mr. Buonaguro ask that in context of commodity plus transportation.  Is that ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Commodity plus upstream transportation to Union is what we understand the gas supply charge to be comprised of.


MR. DINGWALL:  I will get into this later, but does not  Union have a separate line item for transportation?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, we do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I think perhaps the question, we combined the two to create the figure 75 percent, which is -- we've called the gas supply charge.  If you need to break it out, I have no problem. 


MS. NOWINA:  So it is that 74, 75 percent that you are  interested in?  So, Mr. Simpson, do you understand the undertaking?


MR. SIMPSON:  I understand the undertaking and I am certain that the results will demonstrate the point that is trying to be made, which is the cost of molecules has been on the rise.  So to the extent that we can provide information, we will seek to do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Go ahead.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the panel has already answered this, in part.  The panel mentioned that in measuring its reduction of volatility was achieved at for 39 percent, I believe.      

MS. PIETTE:  That's correct. 

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you describe the statistical measure that is used to come to that figure.  

     MS. PIETTE:  In determining the volatility, we use a 

standard deviation measure, which is simply a measure of the dispersion of the 12 price points that year, compared to the mean.  We compare that standard deviation of our prices to the NIMEX market monthly settled prices.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I expect from your earlier 

answer that Union considers the -- using that statistical measure to have -- that the risk management program has been successful?  

     MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Lastly, would Union agree in a general sense that the price risk increases with price volatility?  i.e., the price risk faced by the customer increases the as the price volatility increases. 

     MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, just before you begin, I wonder if we might be excused when we are done 

cross-examination?  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes you may, Mr. Warren.  


MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, there are two parties that are identified as undecided.  Since those parties that are supportive of the utility had an opportunity to ask their questions, I wonder it -- I am happy to go behind the undecideds, if they would prefer to go ahead.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Who are the undecided?  And do you wish to examine this panel?  

     MR. DeROSE:  I believe on the list IGUA was one of the 

undecided and we have no questions at this time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Do you know who the other one was, Mr. Adams?  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  LIEN is identified as an undecided.  

     MR. MILLAR:  They're not in the room. 

     MS. NOWINA:  I guess they're not going to ask any questions, Mr. Adams.  So I think you are up, Mr. Adams.  

cross-examination Mr. Adams:  

     MR. ADAMS:  Thanks very much.  Panel, I wonder if I can follow-up on one item, just in your previous answers and also in your examination in-chief, you identify a reduction in volatility of 39 percent over the last nine years.  

     Can I confirm with you that what you are talking about there is the volatility in costs that Union has incurred to acquire commodity.  You're not referring to the prices passed through to customers. 

     MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.  We're referring to our cost of gas.  It is actually over the last eight years, not nine.  So it is 1998 through to 2005, inclusive.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So if we can go back to that paragraph 5.5.10.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, which document?  

     MR. ADAMS:  In Ms. DeMarco's compendium, it is 4B.  Mr. Warren just turned you to it a minute ago.  

     MS. PIETTE:  Sorry, the paragraph number?  

     MR. ADAMS:  5.5.10.  

     MS. PIETTE:  We have it.  

     MR. ADAMS:  The Board's observation is that no evidence has been provided that demonstrates whether the hedging activity had a material effect on the volatility experienced by customers.  I will stop there.  All right.  

     The answer you just gave me with respect to the 39 percent is not an answer that's relevant to the volatility experienced by customers.  This is -- the answer you just gave me was that the volatility is that experienced by Union in its commodity acquisition.  Am I understanding correctly?  

     MS. PIETTE:  It's true that the 39 percent number that I quoted is the volatility that's experienced by our cost of gas.  That will flow through to customers eventually.  Not in that same proportion, but we can speak to the customer volatility as well.  

     MR. ADAMS:  You can speak to the customer volatility?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  

In a previous interrogatory, Energy Probe asked us the question, what would be the effect of our risk management on customers' volatility, considering that they are -- that the prices are set through the QRAM process.  And at the time we answered the interrogatory, we said that it 

was an arduous process to recreate all of the QRAMs back for 12 or 16 periods, because each QRAM takes us about ten days to generate.  

     So in the amount of time we had to answer the interrogatory, we certainly couldn't do that.  

     But we have continued to think about how we can be helpful, and generate the same sort of information without re-jigging our QRAM for the last 12 quarters.  And what we did was, when you think of the QRAM it's really a two-part process.  One is setting the reference price and the second is clearing the deferred costs.  And risk management has actually very little effect on setting the reference price because that's just a forward price of the next 12 months on the market.  

     But where risk management does have an effect is the 

clearing of the deferred costs particularly PGVA deferral 

account.  The QRAM clears several deferral accounts, and the one that would be most effected by risk management would be the PGVA.  So we focussed on just that.  And we looked at what the PGVA activity would be without the risk management that we had had in the last number of quarters.  I believe it is since January of 2003.  

     That information was fairly readily available to us, so we went back and we looked at the deferred activity that happened over that time.  And what it would have been had we not had risk management.  And the conclusion is that with risk management we reduced the size of the rate riders that related to PGVA by 16 percent.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One six?  

     MS. PIETTE:  16.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Are you in a position to file that information so that we can have a look at the way you have done those calculations?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, I believe we can.  This was drawn to our attention recently but Union has put together something in anticipation that that might come up.  We can put that on the record and I believe we actually have it, so we can distribute it to parties.  The way the witnesses have compiled it is, there's two spreadsheets or two pages which contain -- they're not really spreadsheets.  There is two charts.  Ms. Piette is referring to a document that is entitled, “Risk Management Impact on WACOG and PGVA,” and we can distribute that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark those as exhibits.  Are they two separate documents or -- 

     MR. SMITH:  Well, it is really just one.  I apologize.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, I am troubled by this.  Energy Probe asked an interrogatory, J10.04.  We asked part B:  

“Please indicate what rates the QRAM would have produced during the historic bridge and test years without and without risk management.”  

     Now, we were -- that question arises directly out of the Enbridge decision.  The Board asked more or less the same -- I mean made the same request of Enbridge in paragraph 5.5.11.  Union has just handed to me a table of figures that relates to the time period that's requested in that interrogatory response.  Had they produced the interrogatory reply in a more timely fashion, we 

would have been in a position to understand better the material that's presented here.  We're somewhat disadvantaged by Union's presentation of this evidence at a late date.  

Now, to minimize the impact on the flow of this proceeding, I wonder if I could have an opportunity to set aside this document for the purposes of my questions now; continue on; and perhaps if a break appears that I could come back, after the break, and if we identify any questions, address them to the panel at that time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's clarify a couple of things first, Mr. Adams.  It is a good point.  There were two -- we received one page. 

     MR. SMITH:  There is simply the one document.  I apologize.       

MS. NOWINA:  There is one document.  Because to Mr. Adams' point, I wouldn't want another document to come up later that he is going to make the same request of.  So if there are additional documents that we need to consider, perhaps we can get them on the record now.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, let me just respond to Mr. Adams this way and I think I can be helpful of the -- In response directly to Mr. Adams' submission, of course the -‑ what Ms. Piette has explained is what she has handed out is not, in fact, an answer to the interrogatory question that was asked and what was asked for the QRAM, and that is just simply not possible


Directionally, as I understand it, this will provide information at customer level on the impacts of risk management.  So in an effort to be helpful and, frankly, just in preparing for today's hearing, the witnesses have done that.


Now, the witnesses do -- obviously in preparing, they do a fair amount of work and I don't ‑‑ I don't want to say everything the witnesses have done, looked at, in preparing for a hearing should be made available.  There is a second document that is not responsive to any question that's been asked thus far.  We can provide it.  I don't know that it is of assistance.  I suppose it will be of assistance if people ask questions in respect of it.


I would frame it this way.  Union's proposal in respect of risk management is that it's not planning on changing anything, and that's why Union hasn't filed any additional direct evidence or examination ‑‑ or, sorry, evidence in‑chief on this.  But I don't want to be unfair to Mr. Adams.  We can provide it to him.  If he wants an opportunity to review the material and ask questions after a break, that's fine.


I have no objection to it.  I'm not looking to sandbag him or anything like that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I'm not certain of your response regarding the second document.  Do you want to file that now?


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  I mean, I would rather ‑‑ although it hasn't been elicited in any question, I would rather just get it out there so we can avoid the suggestion that we're holding anything back, because we're not.


MS. NOWINA:  I think that would be helpful, Mr. Smith, and I appreciate it.  So, Mr. Adams, we will get the two documents.  And we are interested in this information, at least the one we have filed now.  So we would like you to take the time to ask the appropriate questions.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just note that I made some remarks about Union's answer to this interrogatory J10.04 in my pre-filed evidence, because I was dealing only with the interrogatory responses I had at the time.  So it is conceivable that perhaps in our evidence in‑chief I might have a comment on ‑‑ that amends, to some extent, my pre-filed evidence, but I can't ‑- I don't know where I am going to go there.


MS. NOWINA:  That's understandable, Mr. Adams.  Can we get an exhibit number, please?


MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The first exhibit will be Exhibit M1.9, and that would be the risk management impact on WACOG and PGVA.  The second document would be Exhibit M1.10, Risk Management Program Impact 1998 to 2005.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.


EXHIBIT NO. M1.9:  RISK MANAGEMENT IMPACT ON WACOG AND 
PGVA.

EXHIBIT NO. M1.10:  DOCUMENT TITLED RISK MANAGEMENT 
PROGRAM IMPACT 1998 TO 2005.

MS. NOWINA:  Are you ready to go ahead, Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Okay, let me turn to the question of administration.  I will try to outline the areas that I want to address with you, panel, just to help you and help the Board members follow the train here.


The first area I want to address with you is risk management administration.  The second is the utility perspective, benefit to Union of the risk management program.  The third area I want to address is the effect on consumer prices for the M2 customer class.  The fourth area is volatility, and then the final area relates to the market pricing.


Now, I understand, from J10.09, panel ‑‑ and you don't need to turn it up, but that there are eight positions represented on the risk management committee as voting members?


MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  The list of positions is identified in J10.9.  I have just observed that there's a lot of heavy hitters here.  The committee is chaired by a vice president, and there are five director level positions reflected on the committee.  Is that information still up to date?


MS. PIETTE:  The information is up to date, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you just identify for us who the vice president is and the five directors in that case, today?


MR. SIMPSON:  So beyond title, you are interested in names?


MR. ADAMS:  Just the names of the people that inhabit these positions today.


MR. SMITH:  I just wonder whether or not we need to know specific names or the titles?


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a concern, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  No, I don't have a concern.  It's just typically this isn't -- in other areas we have explored, it's always been satisfactory to provide the titles, but I have no particular concern.


MR. ADAMS:  Perhaps I should just refine my question, in response to the concern raised by Mr. Smith.


Are any of the panellists members of the committee?


MR. SIMPSON:  I am the director of acquisitions, David Simpson.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  That's good enough for our purposes here.  Now, the voting members of this committee, do they attend these meetings typically with their support staff?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  Each of the voting members typically would just be attending on their own, with the exception of perhaps some gas supply personnel.


MR. ADAMS:  So in a typical meeting, how many non‑voting members would be in attendance?


MR. SIMPSON:  Two, maybe three.


MR. ADAMS:  Just judging from the weight of executives that attend on this committee, it's clear, I think, on its face, that the utility treats its risk management activities very seriously and it is employing experienced senior staff to oversee the activity.


Can you give an indication of what a typical agenda for such a meeting looks like?


MR. SIMPSON:  The agenda and the meetings are rather brief, an hour, maybe an hour and a half, once per month.  It is involved in really just identifying what's been taking place in the gas market from a price perspective, as well as discussion around fundamentals, like gas and storage and levels of storage, and ultimately a review of the existing tools that have been put in place, and then a discussion about what to do for the next month, in terms of continuing to unfold that plan throughout the season.


MR. ADAMS:  When you refer to conditions in the gas market, this is the wholesale gas market that's discussed?


MR. SIMPSON:  What I meant by referring to the gas market is definitely this is a North American context, in terms of what is driving the price of natural gas.  So we try to establish, at a high level, what conditions are prevailing at that time.


MR. ADAMS:  Of course the gas market has all kinds of nooks and crannies.  Is it typical in these meetings for the agenda to reflect tracking of prices to the retail market from gas marketers?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.


MR. ADAMS:  It is really just the wholesale side of the market, not the retail side of the market, that is being tracked in this committee?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure what you mean by wholesale.  Can you be more specific?


MR. ADAMS:  This is NIMEX, NGX.  This is not Direct Energy, OESC that is being tracked.


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  As I've stated, we're really looking at the natural gas marketplace on a North American pricing platform.  We don't concern ourselves with what the marketers may or may not be doing with their molecule products.


MR. ADAMS:  That's helpful.  Does this committee commission or receive or ‑‑ reports from outside advisors or consultants? 
     MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly in our positions with the supplier arrangements that we have, I think it is fair to say there is all sorts of external information that is available to us that we probably all read on a rather frequent basis, as we're concerned with the gas market.  

     In terms of specific detail that's within the presentation, that is largely created by ourselves.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So let's just take the example you raised 

earlier about the RMI study.  Would that have been received by the committee and reviewed by this committee?  It is some years ago, but...

     MR. SIMPSON:  I want to put it into context what the 

committee is there for.  It is typically monthly reviewing 

the plan and making recommendations going forward.  I wasn't plan and making recommendations going forward.  I wasn't present when the RMI report was done but that was a unique consultant study that was done as per the ADR agreement.  I wouldn't be surprised at a high level if it was discussed at the committee, but it was not a voting item, per se.       

MR. ADAMS:  If people were trying to track down, on a fully-allocated cost basis, what the costs are that are embedded within the cost of service associated with administering risk-management program, would it be fair to say that the costs of this operation of this committee would be a component of that cost perspective?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  We're just trying to identify an 

interrogatory, I think, that dealt with this question.  Yes.  Sorry, J10.03 by Energy Probe basically asked what was the O&M as it related to the risk-management program, which, round figures, we articulated at $100,000 that's allocated to risk management.  

     Just to put two things I think into perspective that will hopefully help the panel.  A hundred thousand dollars, while not an insignificant amount of money, represents about ten cents on an annual customer bill.  So a dime.  

     The intent of the meetings, as they relate to this 

committee, of course are very driven towards what is being 

fulfilled within the risk management program, but I would offer that tremendous amount of value comes from updating this senior audience on the marketplace in general.  And I would be very remiss in saying that if risk management didn't exist, that they would no longer need this type of information.  Nothing could be further from the truth.  

     The type of things that we review are very relevant to the price of gas and, as was just discussed earlier, the price of gas is almost three quarters of our customer's bills.  So I think we have a very vested interest in keeping abreast of the marketplace activity.  

     MR. ADAMS:  We're going to get there in a while, but if I understand correctly the approach that's taken for actually executing the hedging activities is a mechanistic one, that is, the utility is not trying to beat the market with its risk management program.  Is that correct?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So the judgments that the members of this 

committee may be developing with respect to the patterns and the anticipated outcomes for prices, that does not flow through to guiding your hedging activities.  Is that correct?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think I would completely agree with that statement.  For example, when we decide or we have to decide effectively when to begin a hedging program for next winter or the following summer, certainly we use tools that are available like the fundamentals and the technical analysis to help initiate some of that 

decision-making.  And what flows from that, then, is a very layering in or mechanical approach of purchasing these financial options or whatever tools that we utilize or choose to utilize heading into that season.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So the utility ought to be accountable for the starting point for implementing its risk management acquisitions for the next season?  You make a judgment call on when to commence, and having made that judgment call, that was a subjective decision made by the utility.  So if we have any questions about that, we could go to the committee and get answers.  Is that fair?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think what is fair is, yes, the committee is there to vote and make decisions.  That's why we meet monthly.  

     There is a high level of mechanistic approach that we have to how we fulfil that program, but there certainly is voting that takes place on key decisions like that.  

     MR. ADAMS:  That's very interesting.  Have you started yet the risk-management activities for the next heating season?  Are you in the middle of something there?  Or have you made the decision to start your engines?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  We've hedged for the summer and we have begun next winter.  

     MR. ADAMS:  When did you make the decision to start hedging for next winter?  

     MS. PIETTE:  We generally start the February prior to the next winter.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And in this particular instance, were you ahead or behind the usual?  

     MS. PIETTE:  We did start in February.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  That's a kind of important moment, 

right?  If this is a subjective activity, it's going -- there's a lot of dollars on the table as to the outcomes.  So that February meeting when you made the decision to launch the program for next winter, was there -- what were the inputs that were received by the committee that launched its decision, the basis for its vote to start then?

     MR. SIMPSON:  They were the exact dynamics that I reflected earlier that we review each month.  And I would like to I guess reinforce that what we did for this winter is by and large what we did for last winter, which was by and large what we did for the winter before.  

     So while there is important decisions to be made, the most important of which is to have a program and stick to it and follow it on a fairly regimented basis, which is exactly what we do this winter and previous winters.  

     MR. ADAMS:  In February, can you provide us with the price outlook that you were dealing with, what you anticipated to be the prices for next winter?  As of your February decision, when you made the decision to launch into your risk management program, you thought this was going to be to the best advantage of your customers, you made it on the basis of some kind of an outlook is what you have described for us.  

     What I want to know is, what was that outlook?  And you don't need to produce it today, but I just -- I think it would be interesting on the record to know what your judgment was at that time.  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I want to come back to a comment that was made earlier.  We are not being speculative.  We are not trying to beat the market.  Each month, we will definitely review the conditions that prevail at the time, but there is not a crystal ball as to you know should we buy in February or let's roll the dice and wait until -- let's not even hedge this winter.  Let's wait till we get to October.  

     We simply are trying to fulfil a rather mechanical process to purchase in our options.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Simpson, I am not totally grasping this.  You just told me that you make a decision as to when to start the program, and that's a judgmental matter.  You got flexibility.  You need to have highly-informed executive decision makers to make the call.  You get those people into position and knowledge where the company feels comfortable and ready to go, then you pull the plug at some point in time.  That sounds like speculation to me.  What am I missing?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think you are missing completely history, the fashion in which we gradually ramp up to a season.       


We are doing this winter what we have done every winter, and that is layer‑in.  Speculation, in my mind, would be a committee that sits back and says, You know what, if we just wait three, four, five months more, we'll hit the bottom.  There is nothing in our program that's been approved that speaks to achieving the lowest price.  That's never been a driver.


We certainly are looking in February, in this example, at the conditions that prevailed themselves, but it was not with the eye towards speculating whether that is the peak or the valley.  It was more towards what time we should enter ‑‑ start entering winter hedging.


MR. ADAMS:  Well, Mr. Simpson, you're very, very knowledgeable, much more knowledgeable than I am, about movements in the market.


I guess you would agree with me that, in hindsight, given the approach that you take about picking the best time to start the program, in hindsight it would have been a good thing for consumers, you would have been able to hit lower prices, if you had started the hedging activity for next winter a little bit later than February; right?


MR. SIMPSON:  Well, I think we're going to miss each other all day long on this one, because we are not trying to achieve the lowest price.


In the context that we -- arguably I think most in the industry would say that's virtually impossible.


 What we are trying to do is layer in risk management products that will help reduce volatility, and I think our track record is very proven on that.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let me just double back to this question of costs of operating the risk management activity.  The $100,000 you were just referring to, Ms. Piette, just a few moments ago, those are the ‑‑ are those the out-of-pocket and incremental costs associated with this activity, legal and whatnot?


MS. PIETTE:  The 100,000 refers to one person's salary who works in my area, who spends his time doing risk management, solely doing that primarily.


MR. ADAMS:  So we have one dedicated person.  So that's simple.  We don't have to allocate anything.  We know what his job is.


MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Great.  Now, it seems to me, from a kind of fairness points of view, one of the important things here is making sure that customers that are not using risk management activity ‑‑ risk management services through system gas, like direct purchase customers, not be burdened with the cost of paying for risk management activities.


What steps does the utility make to ensure that the DP customers are protected from having to cover executive compensation during the time when this particular vice president is sitting in and chairing those meetings, for example?


MR. SIMPSON:  I hope I tried to at least put into perspective the intent of the meeting, who participated, the cost at a dime to sales service customers.


The costs, per se, for direct purchase for risk management, there are none.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  We want to make sure that the DP people aren't paying for this, but the costs of the ‑‑ of that vice president, when he is sitting in there and chairing this committee and preparing for those meetings, I take it you would agree with me that it would be inappropriate to have those costs recovered from DP customers; right?


MR. SIMPSON:  In my opinion, we're really slicing a very fine wedge here.  I tried to make the ‑‑ my point known that those meetings accomplish a few things, most importantly, decisions as it relates to the risk management program, but almost equally importantly, it is education for senior members of Union Gas as it pertains to the natural gas marketplace.


Clearly our group in gas supply is the most informed and able to provide those types of updates, and for the sake of approximately an hour a month, I don't think the direct purchase customers are disadvantaged.


MR. ADAMS:  So the meetings, you described them as meetings taking an hour, but there is no preparation required for the members of the committee to come to these meetings?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  They just come in fresh and have a discussion with no preparation and come to their decisions on that basis?  That's what you're telling us?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm telling you there is no direct preparation of material they have to prepare in advance.  I would not profess that we should be so naive that these folks aren't watching the natural gas marketplace.


Probably half in this room is reading, daily or monthly magazines as it relates to energy pricing.  And these members probably are doing so, as well.


The intent of the meeting is really to bring those thoughts together and to have a discussion about it.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, I'm having a hard time understanding the materiality of your questions with the focus on costs of a meeting that is an hour a month.


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, Enbridge has testified and provided evidence that operation of their risk management program in 2002 costs them about $600,000; in 2003, $500,000.


There is a sharp contrast with that information that's on the record and available to the Board compared to the claims that Union is making.  I'm just trying to understand how there can be such a drastic difference in cost between the two utilities.  And I think we've established now, I think, the perspective that Union brings to that cost determination process, and I think it is clear now.  I don't need to go any further in this area.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, there is no profit built into the revenue requirement for Union to compensate the utility for undertaking the risk management service it provides to its customers.


The direct costs of the risk management program are very small, incremental costs, as you have described.


Now, some people might look at those two facts, the utility's not compensated and the total expenses associated with administration of the program are very small.  People might look at those two facts and conclude that the utility is crazy putting so much high‑powered talent on the job of overseeing the risk management program.


 Does the utility consider that the large values that can flow through the risk management program justify the heavy governance commitment that the utility provides to supervise the activity?


MR. SIMPSON:  There's a few claims made there, so let me try to make sure I grasp a couple of important ones.


Firstly, I referred to earlier, we're in the gas business.  The claims put forward would suggest, Well, why bother?  Well, we bother because it matters.  Seventy percent of the bill for sales service customers is roughly the commodity.  I think it should be mandated, in a sense, upon us that we participate to reduce the risk to those customers as best we can.


Our risk management program is intended to do that, so that is our vested interest.


In terms of governance, I definitely don't want to minimize how important a program like this is and how carefully it should be deployed and, hence, the governance processes that we have.


MR. ADAMS:  I want to turn to the area of benefit to Union from operation of the program.  Several regulated Ontario LDCs have, in fairly recent years, had competitive marketing affiliates.  Toronto Hydro, Union and Enbridge previously created affiliated but unregulated energy marketers, and then sold them.


Would you agree with me that in all of these instances, the unregulated energy marketing affiliates of the regulated utilities were sold at a substantial gain to the shareholder?


MR. SIMPSON:  I can't even come close to making a comment on that, other than to offer that Energy Probe put a question forward at J10.10 where they were enquiring as to whether we did the risk management services with an affiliate, and we do not.


As it drifted into the sale of ‑‑ spin‑off of associated companies, I can't comment on that.


MR. ADAMS:  Are you aware that Guelph Hydro, another regulated Ontario LDC, currently operates an energy retailer called Select Power?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, I'm not.


MR. ADAMS:  Does Union have any intention of establishing an unregulated gas retailer or having an affiliated business established in this area or undertaking retail gas marketing directly?  Is that anything that we should expect to see in the near future, or distant future?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So it's possible that the utility may be 

organizing itself to set up an unregulated retailer right now?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I'm probably not being too helpful here, but I don't know.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, I want to turn to the area of understanding the impact on consumer prices.  

     We have learned just now, from you, that the current 

administration of the risk-management program is not totally mechanical.  There are judgments made as to when to initiate the risk management buying – risk-management program activities associated with the peak seasons, both summer and winter.  

     So apart from the judgmental decisions with respect to when to initiate their risk-management programs, are there any other subjective, non-mechanical aspects of the administration of the programs?  Or is that the only example that we have where it's the judgment of the utility executives that the customers are relying upon?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  We definitely don't have a machine that starts up once a season.  As I relayed, we have some small amount of discretion around when to start, probably some small discretion around what types of tools to utilize.  All of these discretions, if you will, were reviewed and known by RMI, our consultant that was used in the last case.  Clearly they supported our program.  Clearly they reflected that our program is consistent with other LDCs in jurisdictions throughout North America.  RMI is a very 

reputable consulting firm and their support and approval of the plan, I think, gives us comfort that although there are small amounts of judgment involved, our layering in and mechanical approach is both -- provides reasonable value as well consistent with best practices in the industry.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So with respect to the accountability for the exercise of discretion around the use of tools and the timing or the start-up for risk management activities, that accountability would rest with the vice president?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  The accountability as a chair would rest with the vice president.  But in terms of logistics, it is a matter that would be put to vote by the committee members, each and every month.  

     MR. ADAMS:  When you were proposing this adding to the risk-management toolbox, the 24-month fixed purchasing technique, you made some judgments about the portion of the portfolio that would be captured by the 24-month program element.  

     What were the factors that caused you, in your subjective judgment, to select the fraction of the portfolio that you ultimately fastened on to?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I would reflect upon two key drivers behind that.  The first would be experience.  It was really experience that, in my opinion, brought forward 20 percent of our portfolio to be fixed over a two-year time span, and the mechanical layering in each month of 1/24th of that 20 percent; as well as two years in something that reaches out a bit beyond the near term and gets out into the futures market a little bit, which inevitably will provide more price stability.  

     So the first is experience.  I think that is very important.  And the second is, again, we worked with RMI and got their opinion on our proposal, which was filed as a paper.  Again, they supported that this was reflective of best practices in the industry.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So the 20 percent was judgmental.  Why 24 

months?  Why not six or seven years, say?  It would achieve more -- you would agree with me that the longer the term and the higher the amount, the more volatility suppression that you are achieving; right? 

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think in the selection of both 20 percent and two years, experience, as I said, was a dominant factor.   Probably the issue that we thought through equally as much was the balance of objectives.  

     The Board clearly has an objective within the Act to 

protect customers, as well as a separate objective to ensure competition.  And for us to pick numbers that were significantly higher, while it might achieve greater volatility reduction, it would start to counter act the concept that customers were free to move between sales service and direct-purchase migration.  So we really sat back and used the tools that we had at our disposal 

to try and find a balance and strike a balance between those two.       

MR. ADAMS:  There are some, perhaps, that might take the view that the utility ought to be responsible for trying to beat the market and minimize the prices for consumers.  I take it you would not support -- if somebody were pressing you to do that, you would resist that pressure?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, we would.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So do you think the fact that you have 

discretion around the use of tools and the start-up of a program for future delivery, that the fact that you've testified that you do have discretion over those factors, does that create a risk that you might be pushed into something that you don't want to do?  Like become responsible for achieving lowest price?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think the two are independent discussions, and I have spoken to both.  

     MR. ADAMS:  To your knowledge, Union's never put forward a claim that it can beat the market; right?  Like, it was never part of your program to achieve lowest price?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  No, that's correct.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I take it you would agree with me that in times of a dropping spot market for natural gas, the price that Union would -- would charge under its risk management affected price will generally be higher than the spot market price until the high cost hedges with worked off; right?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think directionally that's correct.  To the extent that you're employing risk management tools, you will tend to lag the market probably both on the way up, as well as on the way down.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So if you look at the position of the regulated price on any particular day, it could easily be above or below market price; right?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  On any particular day?  For sure.  It could be above or below.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And even for extended periods, right?  The track record is that Union's regulated price can exceed market prices for periods of almost two years which is what we saw between 2001 and ‑‑ early 2001 and very late 2002 or early 2003; isn't that correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  I think it is important to understand what we're discussing here, in terms of market prices, because of course those are only known in hindsight and anybody can buy gas in hindsight.


The program that risk management ‑‑ that we have developed for risk management is intended to reduce volatility, not beat the market.  So by definition and design, there will be periods where it is above and periods where it is below.


MR. ADAMS:  So if intervenors ‑‑ if some intervenor group came forward and made the argument that Union ought to be ‑‑ or that risk management offers the prospect for lower prices, they wouldn't have got that impression from anything you have ever said?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't think so.


MR. ADAMS:  No, okay.


I want to turn to the question of volatility.  Union indicates that the objective of the risk management program is to lower price volatility.


Actually, perhaps I better leave this area of questions until I've had an opportunity to look at this material, because I have questions on both market to market and volatility, and I can see that some of these are addressed in the filings that have been provided.  So I will just leave that aside for a moment.


MS. NOWINA:  Should we take a break now, Mr. Adams?  That might be appropriate, in any case, because we have to finish by 4 o'clock.


MR. ADAMS:  Oh, yes.  Absolutely.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will take a break until 3:15 and resume at that point.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:00 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:21 p.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Before we start, I would like to do a check and see where we are, how many people want to examine this panel so we can get a sense of -- I have a feeling we're going to go into Thursday and how much of Thursday we may go into.  So other than Mr. Adams –- well, I guess I will ask Mr. 

Adams first, how long he thinks he will take to complete because we must finish at 4 o'clock today.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I think I can complete in approximately 20 

minutes. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, anyone else wish to examine this panel?  Mr. Dingwall. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, Madam Chair, I will have between 15 and 30 minutes of questions for this panel.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Ms. DeMarco. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, Mr. Dingwall and I have had a preliminary discussion and what I will try to do is clean up on Thursday morning, likely, if Mr. Dingwall finishes today.  Based on what everybody says in a review of the transcript, I will try to pare it down to about 35 to 40 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Anyone else. 

     MR. SCULLY:  Madam Chair, I might have a few questions but as I listen to other counsel, mine are rapidly diminishing.  So I would say ten minutes and maybe nothing. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Board Staff. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I may have a few questions, it will depend on where everyone else goes.  But I don't suspect it will be more than 15 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then we will have reply by Mr. Smith.  So we will certainly go into Thursday morning.  So just for your planning, Mr. Smith and for the panel, you will be back on Thursday.  

     MR. DeROSE:  I was just going to say, you were just 

referring to the risk management panel, am I right?  Not the cost allocation?  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, this panel, the risk-management panel.      

MR. DeROSE:  Just this panel?  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  There is no cost allocation panel. 

     MR. DeROSE:  Sorry. 

     MR. SMITH:  Just rate design. 

     MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, rate design. 

     MR. SMITH:  We had had, just for everybody's information, we had a discussion about the possibility of having the issues lumped together as it were, so Mr. Adams would immediately follow Union's panel.  

     I think because of the way the timing has worked out, the better thing subject to the Board's view, is we will simply put our case in in-chief.  Then we will hear from the intervenors, I expect we'll be hearing from Mr. Adams and from Mr. Chernick, I believe it is, who will be testifying on the M 2 issue and that will be the case in its entirety.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  So, Mr. Adams would you like to proceed.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, thank you.  

     Panel, I am going to try and see if I understand Exhibits M1.9 and point 10.  I will start there.  

     First starting with M1.9.  In Energy Probe interrogatory J10.04, we asked, in part B: 

“Please indicate what rates the QRAM would have produced during the historic bridge and test years with and without risk management.”  

     Maybe you can turn me to M1.9 and tell me what is different about what you present in M1.9 that was not requested in J10.04.  

     MS. PIETTE:  Certainly.  M1.9 is the effect of risk 

management on the PGVA deferral accounts only.  

     In the QRAM, when the QRAM is established, we not only clear the PGVA account but the other deferral accounts as well, such as tolls and fuel, and spot gas.  The other deferral accounts.  

     Also the PGVA activity that is cleared in a QRAM not only accounts for the activity that happened that quarter in the QRAM or in the PGVA account, but also the true-ups from previous quarters.  

     So if there was over or under-consumption in the previous quarter, that would carry forward as well.  So to re-jig the QRAM as it was asked in the interrogatory, that would have put all of those factors in together and we would have come up with what the different QRAM -- or what different QRAM numbers there would have been.  But it would have been more obscure as to what was driving the different QRAMs it wouldn't just be the risk management isolated on the PGVA account alone.  Plus it would have been a lot bigger exercise to do that.      

What we did instead that we thought would be just as helpful would be to isolate just the risk-management activity that occurred on the PGVA account.  

     So these rate riders that you see in column E, you won't find in a QRAM filing anywhere, because this is just the current quarter of that PGVA account and it's both the north and south added together.  So that's the difference. This is a much higher level view than what was asked.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let me turn you to the Alberta board of reference section of the chart.  Just make sure I am reading this correctly.  

     If you look at the fourth column of that panel figures for the Alberta board of reference price, what we see there is that through all of these quarters that are identified, starting in January 2003 up until January 2006, that the customers would have been better off in every case except for January -- one quarter starting January 2005 without risk management.  

     Am I reading that correctly?  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes, you are, but you probably need an 

explanation for why that occurs.  

     When we set the Alberta board of reference price, we 

forecast what we know -- how the impact of risk management will be.  And the forecast includes our costs for the risk management premiums.  But it generally does not include the settlements that we will receive this that quarter because we don't know what they will be for that quarter or for the next 12 months.  So all we forecast generally is the costs, the premium costs.       

So, yes, if you back out the risk management out of the reference price you're backing out our cost, but you -- but there were no benefits to back out as well.  So we would expect that on the Alberta board of reference price, if there was no risk management, the prices would have been slightly lower, as you see here.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let me just turn to the next one, PGVA activity.  That panel of figures.  

     MS. PIETTE:  Yes.  

     MR. ADAMS:  There is a figure that's identified here as negative 17 percent as the total.  I take it, you haven't produced an average of the figures that are in -- above in the C versus D column.  How do you derive that negative 17 percent?  

     MS. PIETTE:  What we have done, when we were collecting the PGVA activity numbers, we took the change in the PGVA account each quarter.  So whether it be positive or negative.  So whether we were accumulating costs or credits, we looked at what the change in the PGVA activity was in each quarter.  So both column C was the actual numbers and column D is what that PGVA activity 

would have been without risk management.  

     Then we added up those numbers on the total line that you see and the difference between 372 and 448 is 17 percent.  So we reduced the PGVA activity in that account by that amount, by 17 percent, so therefore there is less true-up costs after the fact.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Now if we turn to the next panel which is the risk-management impact on PGVA clearing.  What we see there is, the rate rider to clear the PGVA with no -- let's see.  With risk management, the rate rider would be one cent per cubic metre.  But when you add risk management into it, you end up with a figure, I read as 1.2 cents per cubic metre; right?  

     MS. PIETTE:  It's actually the opposite to that.  Column E includes our risk management, because those were our actual figures. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay, yes.  

     MS. PIETTE:  So the one cent per cubic metre at the bottom of that total number, represents what the rate rider would be on average over those fourteen quarters.  If we had no risk management, you would see column F.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So the impact over these 14 quarters of having risk management is an increase of .2 cents per cubic meter over that period?  

     MS. PIETTE:  We decreased.  The risk management program decreased the size of the rate rider an average of 0.2 cents per cubic metre. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  

    
MS. PIETTE:  Keep in mind those are the average numbers.


If you look at certain quarters, like for instance if you look at the second quarter that is examined here in March of '03.  You will see that the rate rider that would have been driven or that was driven from our actual activity was 2.6 cents per cubic metre.  Had we not had risk management, it would have been 4.3.  


And that may seem like small numbers, but if you think of that in terms of a customer's bill, the difference between those two numbers times 3,000 cubic metres a year, for instance, would be a bill change of $50.00 per year.


So in some quarters, risk management may have had smaller impact.  In other quarters it would be larger, but that's the sort of volatility we are trying to suppress in the risk management program.


MR. ADAMS:  So, actually, if we were to track this over longer periods of time, if you continued with your risk management as it is, what you would anticipate mathematically is that the absolute value would get closer and closer to zero cents per cubic metre; right?


Like, the ups and downs would balance each other out over time?


MS. PIETTE:  No.  I don't think I would come to that conclusion.  The mark to market would come to zero over time, as you've seen in the previous chart, M1.10.  The mark to market will average zero over time.  It has, and we expect it to continue to do that, if you take a long enough period of time.


When you are looking on chart M1.9 and the rate rider activity, we expect that sort of volatility to continue.  And, in fact, it could be more so if the market becomes more volatile, or it could be affected by any change in risk management that we could have, as well.  But I would not expect those numbers to go to zero difference, because we are looking at the quarterly impact of our risk management program on volatility, and we are looking at the absolute value of the change.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Let me just circle back to a previous conversation we had.  When this risk management committee gets together, are you routinely updated on the mark-to-market position of your portfolio at that time?


MS. PIETTE:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  So when was the last time you had a meeting?


MS. PIETTE:  We have a meeting at the end of every month, so it would have been the end of April.


MR. ADAMS:  End of April.  So you could add in a figure for us here, 2006.  You probably have a mark to market year to date as at the end of April?


MS. PIETTE:  We would, but it would be deceiving, because what we would include in that number is our premiums for the entire year and the settlements for only the first few months.  It wouldn't be much of an indication on how we expect 2006 to end.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  But if we looked ‑‑ okay.  So if we looked to mark-to-market line, over time the average impact of the risk management has been approximately zero.


MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Round numbers?


MS. PIETTE:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  And 9 million negative?


MS. PIETTE:  Right.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.


Okay, thank you.  In our previous discussion about the committee's activities, it was identified by the panel that the risk management committee did not ‑‑ when it was tracking market prices, it was not tracking prices that are available to consumers from direct retailers.


My question is:  Perhaps it's not in the risk management committee, but is there any place else inside Union Gas that the utility is tracking the marketer prices?


MR. SIMPSON:  Not that I am aware of, although I can offer ‑‑ I might get the website slightly wrong.  energyshop.com or.ca. I think produces such detail.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  So, actually, if I could turn you to the Energy Probe compendium of documents, that was Exhibit M1.8.  We handed it out earlier.


MR. SIMPSON:  Your reference again, please?


MR. ADAMS:  It is the Energy Probe compendium of documents, and it is M1.8.


MR. SIMPSON:  Right.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  And the tab that I want you to go to is tab 4.  That's Energy Probe responses to interrogatories from SEM.


If I could turn you to pages 5 and 6, what these graphs show, in response to the SEM request for information, was Energy Probe ‑‑ the results from a database I maintain that tracks, as best I can, the prices I have been able to come ‑‑ find for marketer contracts and compare those with the prices of the regulated utility rates.


You wouldn't have any information that would confirm the accuracy of any of those figures, do you, that are presented in figure 3 or figure 4?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  I have not studied in detail ‑‑ in fact, I don't even think the detail is provided.  It's a picture, but I am not familiar with the detail behind that graph.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So those instances where the marketer prices are below utility prices, you wouldn't have an opinion as to whether that information is correct, or not?


MR. SIMPSON:  I have an opinion in how the two relate, I suppose.  The first ‑ and it's glaring - that one side of the equation is called the customer danger zone.


MR. ADAMS:  You're referring to figure 2?


MR. SIMPSON:  Am I on the wrong page?  


MR. ADAMS:  On page 4.


MR. SIMPSON:  I'm on figure 2, page 4.


MR. ADAMS:  I was trying to get an answer to ‑‑ with regard to figure 3 and figure 4, but I am happy to hear your answer on figure 2.  Let's go ahead.


[Laughter.]


MR. SIMPSON:  Why don't I answer the correct question first?  So figure 3, I'm not familiar with that data point.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  And same for figure 4.  Figure 3 is the best of the three‑year contracts that are available on the market at any point in time, and figure 4 is the best of the five‑year contracts that are available at any point in time.


You don't have better information, is what I'm asking?


MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  We don't have any that we have not tried to reproduce this within our evidence.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, just so I know what I am looking at here, best three‑year or best five-year is to residential consumers or small consumers from retailers; is that right?


MR. ADAMS:  That's correct, yes.  So I have a database that has something like 300 contracts in it.  I kind of try to keep track of it over time, and I don't have every ‑‑ you know, there is often many changes in the contracts.  So I've got only a small fraction of the total number of contracts that have been offered since 1999.  But the contracts that I do have, about 300, I've sorted them all by time and by price and by contract type, you know, three-year, four-year, five-year, and then tried to identify the best deals that are available to customers at any point in time and try to reflect them in the chart here.


The reason for my question was I recognize that my information is not perfectly complete and it would be interesting if Union had more information, but, unfortunately, they don't.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you, Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  That's the origin of my question.  But please go to figure 2 and provide us with your comments, then.


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  I thought the comment was going to relate to your question, so I will wait for a question as it relates to figure 2.  I was just on the wrong figure.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Let me turn you to figure 2, then.


[Laughter.]


MS. NOWINA:  I could see that coming.


MR. SIMPSON:  I have it.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, figure 2.  Figure 2, Ms. DeMarco has provided that as well in her materials.  This one is a colour graph, which makes it a little easier to follow what is going on.  There's a lot of things going on in the picture.


What we've got here is the Alberta price and in Canadian dollars, and that is compared with the Union M2 south price.  And in this case, the correction relates to excluding TCPL tolls so it is just commodity-on-commodity, a mistake in the original evidence.  

     Now, a couple of things jump out at me and I want your 

comments on this.  If you look at the area under these curves, and I have done this mathematically, in a kind of simulation of rough numbers, but my rough calculations indicate that the area under the curves for the prices that Union is charging are somewhat higher than the area under the curve of the Alberta wholesale market price.  

     First of all, does that sound intuitively correct to you?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I think it appears there, visually.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Could that be partly a reflection of the fact that the effect of the risk management program is a slight increase in average cost?  Could that be one of the factors?  

     MR. SIMPSON:  I would imagine it would be diminimus.  I think more relevant would be, we're somewhat comparing apples and apples, because the red line is an overlay, I think, of the QRAM process, which is the forward ratemaking mechanism.       

The blue line would appear to be in Alberta only, wholesale market, which although part of our portfolio is not our entire portfolio.  And it doesn't appear to take in rate riders, I don't think.  Maybe it does, which can be debits or credits, so I'm not sure what to conclude from this graph.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay. 

     MS. PIETTE:  Perhaps to add to Mr. Simpson's answer as well is that over time because the mark to market is zero in our risk management program, we would not expect the risk management program to have a cost consequence on our prices. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  I think that we will conclude the proceeding at this point.  

Mr. Dingwall, you thought you would take 30 minutes, and rather than cut it short, we know the panel will have to resume on Thursday.  I think that we can continue on Thursday.       

Mr. Adams, because the material came to you late, that does give you a further opportunity to look at those schedules, if you would like to ask questions on them on Thursday.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We may take you up on your offer, but it won't be long.  I promise.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  

Are there any matters before we complete today?  Thank you.  Witness panel, we will see you again on Thursday.  We are now adjourned until Thursday morning at 9 o'clock.  

     --- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 3:45 p.m.  
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